Hybrid quantum circuits: Superconducting circuits interacting with other quantum systems

Ze-Liang Xiang*

Advanced Science Institute, RIKEN, Saitama 351-0198, Japan, and Department of Physics and State Key Laboratory of Surface Physics, Fudan University, Shanghai 200433, China

Sahel Ashhab[†]

Advanced Science Institute, RIKEN, Saitama 351-0198, Japan, and Department of Physics, The University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, Michigan 48109, USA

J. Q. You[‡]

Department of Physics and State Key Laboratory of Surface Physics, Fudan University, Shanghai 200433, China, Beijing Computational Science Research Center, Beijing 100084, China, and Advanced Science Institute, RIKEN, Saitama 351-0198, Japan

Franco Nori[§]

Advanced Science Institute, RIKEN, Saitama 351-0198, Japan, and Department of Physics, The University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, Michigan 48109, USA

(published 9 April 2013)

Hybrid quantum circuits combine two or more physical systems, with the goal of harnessing the advantages and strengths of the different systems in order to better explore new phenomena and potentially bring about novel quantum technologies. This article presents a brief overview of the progress achieved so far in the field of hybrid circuits involving atoms, spins, and solid-state devices (including superconducting and nanomechanical systems). How these circuits combine elements from atomic physics, quantum optics, condensed matter physics, and nanoscience is discussed, and different possible approaches for integrating various systems into a single circuit are presented. In particular, hybrid quantum circuits can be fabricated on a chip, facilitating their future scalability, which is crucial for building future quantum technologies, including quantum detectors, simulators, and computers.

DOI: 10.1103/RevModPhys.85.623

PACS numbers: 85.25.-j, 42.50.Pq, 03.67.Lx, 76.30.Mi

CONTENTS

I. Introduction	624
II. Elements in Hybrid Quantum Circuits	625
A. Atoms	625
B. Spins	626
C. Superconducting qubits	627
D. Cavities and resonators	629
1. Optical cavities	629
2. Superconducting resonators	629
3. Nanomechanical resonators	629
III. Cavity Quantum Electrodynamics	630
A. Atoms coupled to cavities	631
B. Spins coupled to cavities	631
C. Superconducting qubits coupled to resonators	631
IV. Theoretical Principles and Proposals for Hybrid Systems	
Integrating Atoms or Spins in Superconducting Circuits	633

^{*}zlxiang@riken.jp

A. Atoms or spins coupled to superconducting	
resonators (without superconducting qubits)	633
B. Atoms or spins coupled to superconducting	
resonators and qubits	634
1. Direct coupling	635
2. Indirect coupling	635
C. Direct-coupling hybrid circuits	636
D. Indirect-coupling hybrid circuits	637
1. Atomic hybrid quantum circuits	637
2. Spin hybrid quantum circuits	640
V. Experimental Realization of Hybrid Systems with	
Spins and Superconducting Circuits	641
A. Direct-coupling hybrid circuit with	
nitrogen-vacancy	
centers and a flux qubit	641
B. Spins coupled to superconducting resonators	
(without qubits)	642
C. Indirect-coupling hybrid circuits with	
nitrogen-vacancy centers and a transmon qubit	642
VI. Hybrid Quantum Circuits with Nanomechanical	
Resonators	644
A. Coupling mechanisms	644

1. Capacitive coupling 644

ashhab@riken.jp

jqyou@fudan.edu.cn

fnori@riken.jp

2. Magnetic flux coupling	644
3. Electromotive coupling	644
4. Coupling dynamics	644
B. Applications	645
VII. Other Hybrid Quantum Circuits	646
A. Hybrid quantum circuits with microscopic defects	646
B. Hybrid quantum circuits with topological qubits	646
C. Hybrid quantum circuits for converting optical	
photons to microwave photons	646
VIII. Discussion and Conclusion	647
Acknowledgments	647
References	647

I. INTRODUCTION

The field of quantum information processing is attracting considerable interest, and scientists in a variety of disciplines have devoted intense effort to the realization of quantum information principles, technologies, and algorithms (Bennett and DiVincenzo, 2000; DiVincenzo, 2000; Nielsen and Chuang, 2000; Schleich and Walther, 2008; Stolze and Suter, 2008; Georgescu and Nori, 2012). The most advanced experimental demonstrations of controllable quantum coherent systems include trapped ions and atoms (Blatt and Wineland, 2008; Bloch, 2008; Buluta, Ashhab, and Nori, 2011), spins (Hanson *et al.*, 2007; Hanson and Awschalom, 2008; Buluta, Ashhab, and Nori, 2011), and superconducting circuits (Makhlin, Schön, and Shumeiko, 2007; Clarke and Wilhelm, 2008; Buluta, Ashhab, and Nori, 2011; Zagoskin, 2011).

The properties of atoms have been studied extensively over the past century. Atoms have stable energy levels that can be used to represent the different states of qubits. In addition, the coherence times of isolated atoms are long because of their weak interaction with the surrounding environment (Lukin, 2003; Blatt and Wineland, 2008).

Spins are another promising candidate for future quantum technologies (Hanson and Awschalom, 2008). Impurity spins can behave as qubits and can be used to store or process quantum information. For example, phosphorous impurities in silicon (Kane, 1998; Morello *et al.*, 2010) and nitrogenvacancy (NV) color centers in diamond (Wrachtrup and Jelezko, 2006; Doherty *et al.*, 2012) possess good coherence properties, which allow long storage times. Furthermore, rapid progress has been made with quantum dots (Loss and DiVincenzo, 1998; Hanson *et al.*, 2007; Zwanenburg *et al.*, 2012), which can be fabricated on a chip and controlled relatively easily using electric signals.

Remarkable progress has also been made on other systems, such as superconducting (SC) circuits. These SC circuits promise good scalability (Ashhab *et al.*, 2008; Helmer *et al.*, 2009; Galiautdinov, Korotkov, and Martinis, 2012; Harris, 2012) and allow robust control, storage, and readout due to their strong interaction with external fields.

Table I compares different systems used as qubits. Each system has its own advantages and disadvantages [see, e.g., Buluta, Ashhab, and Nori (2011), for a recent overview]. Macroscopic systems, such as SC qubits, offer flexibility, tunability, scalability, and strong coupling to external fields, but have relatively short coherence times (≤ 0.1 ms) and in general are not identically reproducible. On the other hand, microscopic systems, such as atoms and spins, are given by nature and can easily be made as identical qubits with long coherence times (≥ 1 ms), but they operate slowly because of their weak coupling to external fields and have limited scalability (i.e., it is difficult to individually control many atoms working as qubits). A promising idea pursued by various groups at the moment is to combine these different systems

TABLE I.	Comparison	between	different	systems	used	as o	qubits.
----------	------------	---------	-----------	---------	------	------	---------

	Atom, molecule, ion	Electron spin	Nuclear spin	Superconducting qubit	
Size	$\sim 10^{-10} m$	$\sim 10^{-10}$ m (impurities) $\sim 10^{-8}$ m (quantum dot) ^a	$< 10^{-10} \text{ m}^{a}$	$\sim 10^{-6}$ m	
Energy gap	10^{5} - 10^{6} GHz, ~GHz (Rydberg atoms)	1–10 GHz	1–10 MHz	1–20 GHz	
Frequency range	Optical, microwave	Microwave	Microwave	Microwave	
Operating temperature	nK to μ K	~100 mK (quantum dot), room temperature (NV center)	~100 mK (quantum dot), room ~mK temperature (NV center)		
Single-qubit gate operation time τ_1	$\sim \mu s$ (atom) $\sim 50 ps$ (ion)	~10 ns	>10 µs	~ 1 ns	
Two-qubit gate operation time τ_2	$\sim \mu s$ (atom) $\sim 100 \ \mu s$ (ion)	~0.2 ns	$\sim 10 \text{ ms}$	~10–50 ns	
Coherence time T_2	ms to s	ms to s	\sim s	\sim 10–100 μ s	
T_2/ au_1	$10 - 10^4$	$10^{5} - 10^{8}$	10 ⁶	$10^4 - 10^5$	
Coupling type	Electric or magnetic	Magnetic or electric	Magnetic	Electric or magnetic	
Coupling strength with the cavity	<kHz (<i>B</i> field), ~10 kHz (<i>E</i> field), ~10 MHz (Rydberg atoms)	>MHz (quantum dot) ~100 Hz (impurities)	~0.1 Hz	~0.1–1 GHz	

^aRegarding the size of the electron and nuclear spins, as these are carried by pointlike particles, the size might be $\leq 10^{-15}$ m. However, the more relevant quantity in this context is the size contributing to the interaction. In particular, the interaction is typically determined by the overlap integral of the coupled objects, and therefore the relevant size is the spatial extension of the wave function. and build new hybrid quantum structures that would inherit only the advantages of each one of the different components (Wallquist *et al.*, 2009; Duty, 2010; DiVincenzo, Hobbs, and Kumar, 2011).

The most actively pursued type of hybrid quantum circuits (HQCs) uses SC qubits because of their strong coupling to external fields and ease of control. Indeed, rapid progress has been achieved with SC circuits, and many groups are devoting efforts to find a good model to build a hybrid quantum circuit. The long-time storage of the quantum information can be implemented in microscopic systems, such as atoms or spins (Blencowe, 2010; Duty, 2010). This situation is analogous to that in classical computers, which combine electronic circuits and magnetic drives to achieve fast processing and robust long-time information storage, respectively.

HQCs involving SC circuits and nanomechanical resonators (NAMRs) are another emerging type of hybrid quantum systems (Armour, Blencowe, and Schwab, 2002). Recently, many studies have been devoted to this new and exciting subject for its promising applications in future quantum devices (Armour, Blencowe, and Schwab, 2002; Blencowe, 2004; Cleland and Geller, 2004; LaHaye et al., 2009) and the possibility of observing the quantum-to-classical transition in such a macroscopic object (LaHaye et al., 2004; Wei et al., 2006). With current technology, NAMRs can be fabricated with SC circuits on a small chip and have high quality factors and high vibrational mode frequencies (O'Connell et al., 2010; Teufel, Donner et al., 2011; Teufel, Li et al., 2011). Through an effective coupling between the NAMR and the SC circuit, the NAMR can be considered as a "cavity" to study cavity quantum electrodynamics (QED) and also can be cooled down to explore the transition from classical to quantum mechanics.

By far the most successful hybrid system involving SC qubits is the combination of a cavity and SC qubits. This hybrid system, often called circuit QED, has been reviewed and widely used in quantum technologies in the past (You and Nori, 2005; Schoelkopf and Girvin, 2008). Here we focus on more complex hybrid systems involving "SC qubits plus a cavity" (a hybrid system itself) interacting with other quantum systems, including atoms (both natural and artificial) as well as ions and various other quantum systems. Namely, the hybrid circuits we will be focusing on here are composed of various types of quantum systems interacting with a (hybrid) circuit QED system.

In this review, we first overview different basic elements needed to build HQCs, and then we highlight the progress achieved so far integrating these systems.

II. ELEMENTS IN HYBRID QUANTUM CIRCUITS

A. Atoms

Atomic systems (including neutral atoms, polar molecules, and ions) have been studied for a long time and are promising systems for future quantum technologies.

Because of the weak interaction with the environment, atomic systems can achieve long coherence times, which is useful for storing quantum information. In general, optical pumping and cooling, electromagnetic radiation, and laser-induced fluorescence are utilized to initialize, manipulate, and measure the qubit encoded in the atomic levels (Lukin, 2003). Recently, much progress was achieved studying atoms trapped in optical lattices; see Fig. 1(a). In this ultra-low-temperature system, atoms are trapped in microscopic arrays created by laser beams and can be precisely manipulated for eventual use



FIG. 1 (color online). Different types of qubits: (a) atoms trapped in an optical lattice, (b) a planar trap of ions, (c) an electrostatically defined quantum dot, and (d) a nitrogen-vacancy (NV) center in diamond. (a) and (b) are adapted from Buluta, Ashhab, and Nori, 2011.

in future quantum devices [see, e.g., Wieman, Pritchard, and Wineland (1999) and Bloch (2008)] and simulators [see, e.g., Jaksch and Zoller (2005), Lewenstein *et al.* (2007), Buluta and Nori (2009), and Georgescu and Nori (2011)].

However, because atoms interact with each other weakly, achieving many-qubit entangled states or quantum gate operations becomes a major challenge. As a way to overcome this problem, Rydberg states of atoms (Saffman, Walker, and Mølmer, 2010) [or polar molecules (Micheli, Brennen, and Zoller, 2006)] with their large dipole-dipole interactions have been explored for the realization of quantum gate operations.

Rydberg states occur when an atom is excited such that one of the electrons moves into a high principal quantum number orbital. Such Rydberg atoms are much more sensitive to external fields and possess very large electric dipole moments. Similar to the Coulomb blockade and the photon blockade, the Rydberg blockade, which prevents atoms from being excited to a Rydberg state if there is another Rydberg atom nearby, can be used to entangle two atoms located in two separate optical dipole traps and implement effective two-qubit gate operations (Saffman, Walker, and Mølmer, 2010).

Ions are another prospective type of qubits with long coherence times (Cirac and Zoller, 2000; Blatt and Wineland, 2008). Because they are charged, interactions among ions via Coulomb repulsion are much stronger than those among atoms. This property facilitates the realization of two- or multiqubit operations. Ions can also be cooled by laser beams and trapped by electrical or magnetic fields, and they can be manipulated with high precision; see Fig. 1(b). Generally, hyperfine or Zeeman sublevels, the ground and excited states of an optical transition, and the collective motion of ions can be used to encode quantum information with long lifetimes >20 s, >1 s, and <100 ms, respectively. The single-qubit gate time of trapped ions is around 50 ps, while the two-qubit gate time is around hundreds of microseconds (Buluta, Ashhab, and Nori, 2011). The manipulation of ions can be achieved using the same methods used for atoms.

In atomic systems, the coherence times are very long. However, compared to other systems, initialization, operation, and measurement times are also very long. Thus, combining an atomic system (with long coherence times) with another system that allows fast operations has emerged as a possible way to construct novel devices benefiting from the advantages of two seemingly different systems.

B. Spins

Spins can also serve as qubits and store or process quantum information (Hanson and Awschalom, 2008). In general, two kinds of spins are used in quantum computation: electron spin and nuclear spin. Both types can interact with the electric or magnetic fields of a photon.

One can trap atomic gases and utilize electron spins to store quantum information. However, the techniques of trapping and cooling are rather complicated. Alternatively, by integrating dopants into a solid-state host material, large arrays of spin qubits can more easily be assembled in experiment.

Spins in solids generally fall into two classes: quantum dots and atomic impurities. Quantum dots are small nanostructures where electrons are trapped in a potential well and have discrete energy levels (Loss and DiVincenzo, 1998; Hanson et al., 2007; Zwanenburg et al., 2012); see Fig. 1(c). These come in several forms. One is electrostatically defined quantum dots, where the distribution of electrons is controlled by voltages on lithographically fabricated metallic gates. Another form is self-assembled quantum dots, where electrons are confined by the artificial potential produced by a semiconductor growth process. In both types of quantum dots, by employing electrical or optical control, the manipulation, storage, and readout of the qubit have been demonstrated in experiment, with typical gate times ~ 200 ps (Petta et al., 2005; Hanson and Awschalom, 2008). As reported by Nowack et al. (2007), the coupling strength between the electric field and a single electron spin in a quantum dot can reach \sim 5 MHz, which is much larger than the coupling strength (~ 100 Hz) between the external magnetic field and the electron spin in an impurity (Schoelkopf and Girvin, 2008). However, the interaction between the spin and its surrounding spin bath (mainly nuclear spins) has so far limited coherence times to hundreds of microseconds or less (Bluhm et al., 2011).

Atomic impurities, such as phosphorus in silicon (Kane, 1998; Morello et al., 2010; Pla et al., 2012), Er³⁺ ions in Y₂SiO₅ crystal (Guillot-Noël et al., 2006), and NV color centers in diamond (Wrachtrup and Jelezko, 2006; Doherty et al., 2012), can be conveniently integrated in solid-state devices and can have nuclear spins, electron spins, or both. Phosphorus impurities in silicon involve both electron and nuclear spins, and they possess excellent coherence properties [both have spin coherence times $T_2 > 1$ s (Morton *et al.*, 2008; Simmons et al., 2011; Steger et al., 2012; Tyryshkin et al., 2012)]. Gate times are on the order of 1 ns. Using microwave and radio-frequency pulses, spins can implement quantum information processing, especially storage, in a conventional semiconductor material. Also, these spins can be controlled by strain (Weiler et al., 2011) or via the Stark shift (Bradbury *et al.*, 2006). Electron spins of Er^{3+} ions doped in a crystal also have long coherence times (> 1 ms). Either optical or microwave photon states can be mapped into spin states of Er³⁺ ions by different energy-level transitions (Guillot-Noël et al., 2006; Bushev et al., 2011). Thus, Er³⁺ ions are a good candidate for use as a quantum interface between microwave and optical photons.

An NV center in diamond consists of a substitutional nitrogen (N) atom replacing a carbon atom and neighboring one vacancy (V). In such centers, both electron and nuclear spins can be used in quantum technologies and also exhibit long coherence times (~ 1 ms for the electron spin and >1 s for the nuclear spin; the single-qubit gate time is ~10 ns for electron spins and >10 μ s for nuclear spins) in a wide temperature range, even at room temperature (Gaebel *et al.*, 2006; Hanson *et al.*, 2008; Balasubramanian *et al.*, 2009; Neumann *et al.*, 2010; Maurer *et al.*, 2012; van der Sar *et al.*, 2012). Importantly, these NV centers can be used to detect weak magnetic fields (Maze *et al.*, 2008; Taylor *et al.*, 2008) and electric fields (Dolde *et al.*, 2011) at room temperature, instead of using low-temperature sensors.

The electronic ground state of the NV center is a spin-1 triplet, $|m_s\rangle$ with $m_s = 0, \pm 1$. In the absence of a magnetic field, the $m_s = \pm 1$ sublevel is twofold degenerate and the resonance transition frequency between the $m_s = 0$ and $m_s = \pm 1$ sublevels is 2.87 GHz, which nicely matches the microwave frequency regime of SC qubits. This zero-field splitting in the NV center is caused by the reduction of the spin's rotation symmetry in the crystal. In the presence of a magnetic field, the $m_s = \pm 1$ sublevel is split into two levels, which makes it possible to address these two levels individually. NV centers also possess transitions from the electronic ground state to an excited electronic state, and the corresponding transition frequency is in the optical regime. These transitions can be used for the initialization and readout of the quantum state. Therefore, by using both laser and microwave fields, one can implement the manipulation, storage, and readout of the quantum information encoded in the different sublevels (Jelezko et al., 2004; Fuchs et al., 2009; Buckley et al., 2010). Furthermore, coherence times can be enhanced if one applies appropriate sequences of laser pulses and microwave fields (Fuchs et al., 2010; de Lange et al., 2010; Naydenov et al., 2011) or transfers the quantum information from the electron spins to nearby nuclear spins by using the hyperfine interaction (Childress *et al.*, 2006; Jiang et al., 2008; Fuchs et al., 2011). Such interactions also allow the implementation of few-qubit quantum registers (Dutt et al., 2007; Neumann et al., 2008).

In addition, because NV centers couple to both optical and microwave fields, they can also be used as a quantum interface between optical and solid-state systems. This provides a promising platform to study novel quantum phenomena based on NV centers separated by long distances. For instance, quantum interference of two polarized optical photons produced by NV centers in two separate diamond samples (Sipahigil *et al.*, 2012) [or two separate NV centers in the same diamond sample (Bernien *et al.*, 2012)] and quantum entanglement between a polarized optical photon and a NV center qubit (Togan *et al.*, 2010) have recently been realized in experiment.

Group-V endohedral fullerenes, consisting of a group-V atom (e.g., nitrogen) trapped inside a fullerene cage, are another spin system (Harneit, 2002) that might be integrated in solid-state systems. Group-V endohedral fullerenes exhibit extraordinarily long spin relaxation times (Morton *et al.*, 2007) (~1 s at 4 K) due to the existence of the fullerene cage, which protects the enclosed spin from fluctuating perturbations in various host environments. The molecule N@C₆₀, which has electron spin S = 3/2 coupled to the ¹⁴N nuclear spin I = 1 via an isotropic hyperfine interaction, is a major member of the group-V endohedral fullerenes. By utilizing the technology of electron-spin resonance (or nuclear magnetic resonance), quantum operations and readout of the qubits encoded in the electron (or nuclear) spins of the nitrogen atoms of the molecule N@C₆₀ could be achieved.

Spin systems have similar or even longer coherence times than atomic systems. However, weak coupling to external fields leads to difficulties in the implementation of quantum gate operations. Solid-state systems, such as SC circuits, are an attractive platform for that purpose, as discussed in the next section.

C. Superconducting qubits

SC qubit circuits based on Josephson junctions are macroscopic circuits, and they operate at temperatures of tens of mK. Although not microscopic in size, they can still behave quantum mechanically, allowing the observation of quantum coherence on a macroscopic scale. Compared to normal harmonic oscillators formed by LC circuits, in SC qubits the energy-level separation becomes nonuniform by introducing a nonlinearity via Josephson junctions. This property allows one to encode a qubit in the lowest two levels of a SC circuit for implementing quantum computing and simulation (Makhlin, Schön, and Shnirman, 2001; Burkard, Koch, and DiVincenzo, 2004; You and Nori, 2005, 2011; Wendin and Shumeiko, 2007; Clarke and Wilhelm, 2008; Buluta and Nori, 2009; Georgescu and Nori, 2011; Zagoskin, 2011; Nation *et al.*, 2012). These circuits have two important parameters: the Josephson coupling energy E_J and the electrostatic Coulomb energy E_C . According to their topology and physical parameters, SC qubits can be divided into three kinds: charge qubits (using Cooper pairs on a small island and $E_I/E_C < 1$), flux qubits (using the circulating supercurrent states in a loop and $E_J/E_C > 1$), and phase qubits (using the oscillatory states of the circuit and $E_J/E_C > 1$), as shown in Fig. 2. These solid-state qubits can be controlled by the applied bias current, gate voltage, and microwave fields. All of these have been demonstrated in various experiments (Nakamura, Pashkin, and Tsai, 1999; van der Wal et al., 2000; Martinis et al., 2002; Yu et al., 2002). Single-qubit and twoqubit gate times are ~ 1 and $\sim 10-50$ ns, respectively, while coherence times are currently $\sim 100 \ \mu s$ and are growing steadily. Demonstrating the potential scalability of SC qubits, one experiment has integrated 512 gubits fabricated on a single chip (Harris, 2012). Thus, SC qubits are promising candidates for future quantum applications on a chip.

Superconducting qubits are sensitive to environmental noise from extrinsic and intrinsic decohering elements, which leads to short coherence times. Decoherence caused by extrinsic elements, such as the local electromagnetic environment, could be reduced using a better design of the qubits and the surrounding circuitry, but the main intrinsic element that limits the coherence results from the hard-to-avoid low-frequency noise. For charge qubits, the dominant source of noise is charge fluctuators, such as trapped charges in the substrate and oxide layers of Josephson junctions. For flux and phase qubits, the noise from flux fluctuations dominates the decoherence. The development of more advanced SC qubit designs (Koch *et al.*, 2007; You *et al.*, 2007; Manucharyan *et al.*, 2009) recently ameliorated this problem.

For example, in three-junction flux qubits (Mooij *et al.*, 1999), the effect of flux noise on the qubit can be reduced by decreasing E_J , but the charge noise can become increasingly important when decreasing E_J . The proposal by You, Tsai, and Nori (2006) and You *et al.* (2007) improved the three-junction flux-qubit design by reducing the effective E_J and adding a large shunt capacitor to the small junction, so as to reduce the effects of both charge and flux noise; see Fig. 2. Indeed, a recent experiment (Steffen *et al.*, 2010) demonstrated that this proposal is very effective in ameliorating the effect of low-frequency noise. A complementary proposal for a modified type of charge qubit, named transmon, was put

	Circuit	Properties	Dominant noise	
	$ \begin{array}{c c} & & \\$	$E_J/E_C < 1$ Controlled by V_g .	Charge fluctuations:	
Charge qubit	arge qubit $\begin{array}{c} & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & $		mainly 1/f noise.	
Flux aubit	$\odot \Phi_e \qquad \qquad$	$E_J/E_C > 1$ Controlled by Φ_e .	Flux fluctuations;	
	$E_J \qquad \bigcirc \\ E_J \qquad & \Phi_e \qquad & \alpha E_J \\ \end{bmatrix}$	$E_J/E_C > 1$ 0.5 < lpha < 1 Controlled by \varPhi_e .	mainly 1/1 hoise.	
Phase qubit	E_J I_e	$E_J/E_C \gg 1$ Controlled by I_e .	Flux fluctuations; mainly 1/f noise.	
Low- decoherence qubit	$E_J \qquad \bigcirc \Phi_e \\ \alpha E_J \qquad \qquad$	$\begin{array}{l} \mbox{Shunt capacitance C_s}.\\ E_J/E_C>1\\ \mbox{Controlled by Φ_e}\\ \mbox{flux qubit: $0.5<\alpha<1$}\\ \mbox{phase qubit: $\alpha<0.5$} \end{array}$	Both charge noise and flux noise can be suppressed.	
Transmon	$C_{\rm in} \begin{array}{c} & & \\ & $	Shunt capacitance C_s . $E_J/E_C > 1$ Behaves like a phase qubit	Charge noise can be suppressed.	
Fluxonium	$\begin{bmatrix} 500 \\ C_{in} \\ L_r \\ C_r \\$	Needs an array of larger-area tunnel junctions. $E_J/E_C > 1$ Behaves like a phase qubit	Charge noise can be suppressed with appropriate parameters.	

FIG. 2 (color online). Different types of superconducting qubits. The basic types are the first three ones from above. The bottom three can be thought of as improved versions, where additional components have been added.

forward by Koch *et al.* (2007); see Fig. 2. The transmon qubit greatly reduces the charge dispersion, while the anharmonicity (which is necessary in order to prevent the qubit from turning into a harmonic oscillator) decreases by a much smaller amount. Because the qubit becomes less sensitive to charge variations, the need for electrostatic gates and tuning to a charge sweet spot becomes less necessary. In addition, the qubit in Manucharyan *et al.* (2009) is another improved SC qubit which was named fluxonium. In the fluxonium, a small junction is shunted by a series array of large-area tunnel junctions; see Fig. 2. By carefully choosing the parameters of the tunnel junctions, it is possible to protect the fluxonium from both charge and flux noise.

SC qubits can couple strongly to each other or to cavities via electromagnetic fields, which makes fast gate operations possible with current technology. However, strong coupling also leads to high sensitivity to noise and therefore short coherence times (several microseconds) compared to isolated atoms or spins. Thus, improving the coherence properties is a paramount priority for SC qubits. Recently, through dynamical decoupling with a flux qubit (Bylander *et al.*, 2011) or embedding the transmon qubit in a 3D circuit QED with a high *Q* factor (Paik *et al.*, 2011; Rigetti *et al.*, 2012), coherence times of SC qubits have been enhanced to around 100 μ s.

D. Cavities and resonators

A cavity is one of the two basic elements of cavity QED (Scully and Zubairy, 1997; Dutra, 2005). The quantized electromagnetic field in the cavity can interact with an atom (or spin or SC qubit) and exchange energy with it. Thus, a cavity can serve as a data bus in quantum information processing and transfer quantum data between different qubits. However, any real cavity system suffers from energy losses, which can be described by the quality factor Q. A higher Q factor indicates a lower rate of energy loss in the cavity systems, while SC qubits easily couple to SC resonators, such as SC coplanar waveguide (CPW) resonators and LC resonators, playing the role of cavities.

1. Optical cavities

Many types of cavity systems can be used to couple qubits to electromagnetic fields. The optical cavity consisting of two separated parallel mirrors is the most conventional cavity system, called the Fabry-Perot (FP) cavity; see Fig. 3(a). In such a cavity, a standing-wave electromagnetic field can exist for a long time and interact with an atom (or spin) trapped in the cavity. With an appropriate design, a Fabry-Perot cavity can achieve high quality factors $Q \sim 3 \times 10^8$ (Hood, Kimble,



FIG. 3 (color online). Schematic diagram of (a) a cavity and (b) a coplanar waveguide (CPW) resonator.

Rev. Mod. Phys., Vol. 85, No. 2, April-June 2013

and Ye, 2001), which provides a good platform for the realization of cavity QED. In other optical cavity systems, such as the microsphere cavity (dielectric spherically symmetric structure) (Vernooy *et al.*, 1998; Buck and Kimble, 2003), the microtoroidal cavity (dielectric rotationally symmetric structure) (Armani *et al.*, 2003; Aoki *et al.*, 2006; Özdemir *et al.*, 2011), and the photonic band-gap cavity (periodic optical nanostructure that governs the motion of photons) (Lev *et al.*, 2004; Song *et al.*, 2005; Greentree *et al.*, 2006), very high quality factors have also been achieved. The dynamics of a cavity can be described by the Hamiltonian

$$H_{\text{cavity}} = \sum_{k} \hbar \omega_k \left(a_k^{\dagger} a_k + \frac{1}{2} \right), \tag{1}$$

where ω_k is the frequency of the *k*th cavity mode, and $a_k^{\dagger}(a_k)$ is the associated creation (annihilation) operator.

2. Superconducting resonators

Besides the above mentioned cavities, some other resonators, such as CPW and *LC* resonators, can also serve as cavities in SC circuits with low losses. These resonators can be described by the same Hamiltonian as that given in Eq. (1).

CPW resonators [see Fig. 3(b)] have been realized in several experiments (Wallraff et al., 2004; Sillanpää, Park, and Simmonds, 2007; Hofheinz et al., 2008; Hofheinz et al., 2009). In these SC resonators, two ground planes are placed on the two sides of a central SC wire; this defines the CPW resonator (or transmission line resonator). Two gap capacitors play the role of the mirrors in a conventional optical cavity, and the distance between these capacitors defines the characteristic frequencies of the normal modes. Furthermore, the frequencies of the resonator can be adjusted by including a superconducting quantum interference device (SQUID) array in the SC wire (Palacios-Laloy et al., 2008). In general, the entire setup should be on the millimeter scale in order to fit the microwave frequency of the SC qubit, and it can be built by etching techniques. Recent experiments showed that gigahertz photons can make up to a million bounces before being lost in a high-quality CPW resonator at low temperatures.

An *LC* resonator consists of an inductor and a capacitor with resonance frequency $\omega_r = 1/\sqrt{LC}$. With appropriate design, the *LC* resonator can be integrated into a SC circuit and effectively serve as a cavity. Different from a CPW resonator, the *LC* resonator has only a single cavity mode.

One recent proposal for creating tunable cavities in SC circuits involves using a one-dimensional array of SC resonators as a medium and two SC qubits as tunable mirrors (Zhou, Dong *et al.*, 2008; Zhou, Gong *et al.*, 2008; Liao *et al.*, 2010). The resonator array supports allowed energy bands for photon propagation, just as in a photonic crystal. When the frequency of a qubit that is coupled to one of the resonators is tuned to match the photon frequency, it can act like a perfectly reflecting mirror. Thus, by appropriately biasing two qubits coupled to two resonators in the array, one obtains an analog of a Fabry-Perot cavity.

3. Nanomechanical resonators

NAMRs have recently attracted considerable attention for their possible applications in future quantum technologies. With current experimental techniques, NAMRs can be built with quality factors Q in the range of 10^3 to 10^5 , and fundamental vibrational mode frequencies in the range from 10 MHz to 1 GHz, at low temperatures T (Cleland and Roukes, 1996; Knobel and Cleland, 2003; LaHaye et al., 2004; Gaidarzhy et al., 2005). If the vibrational energy of the NAMR becomes larger than the thermal energy $k_B T$, then the mechanical oscillation can behave quantum mechanically. However, the observation of quantum behavior is challenging since it requires cooling the mechanical motion to extremely low temperatures and the ability to generate nonclassical states. Currently, many groups are devoting tremendous efforts to devising hybrid systems to create a coherent interface between NAMRs and other well-controlled quantum systems. Some focus on optomechanical systems involving an oscillating cantilever or an oscillating micromirror as a harmonic oscillator (Marquardt and Girvin, 2009). Others focus on how to integrate NAMRs into SC circuits and couple them to each other (Armour, Blencowe, and Schwab, 2002; Cleland and Geller, 2004; Zhang, Wang, and Sun, 2005; Buks and Blencowe, 2006; Sun et al., 2006; Wei et al., 2006; Xue, Liu et al., 2007; Xue, Wang, Liu, and Nori, 2007; Xue, Wang, Sun et al., 2007; Etaki et al., 2008; Wang, Semba, and Yamaguchi, 2008; LaHaye et al., 2009; Pugnetti et al., 2009; Xia and Evers, 2009; Zhang, Liu, and Nori, 2009; Liu et al., 2010; O'Connell et al., 2010; Teufel, Donner et al., 2011; Teufel, Li et al., 2011Shevchenko, Ashhab, and Nori, 2012).

III. CAVITY QUANTUM ELECTRODYNAMICS

Cavity QED studies the interaction between matter and the field in a cavity. In the simplest case, a two-level system (TLS) and a quantized electromagnetic field can coherently exchange a quantum of energy (a single photon) back and forth in the cavity at the Rabi frequency, which is proportional to the system-field coupling strength. This energy exchange process is called Rabi oscillations (Scully and Zubairy, 1997). Unfortunately, in any real system, other undesirable losses, such as decay from the cavity (at rate κ) and from the atom (at rate γ), can take place. The coherent exchange of energy between the TLS and the cavity can be observed only when the Rabi frequency is much larger than the loss rates $(g \gg \kappa, \gamma)$, which is known as the strong-coupling regime. Cavity QED can be realized in various systems, such as atom-cavity devices and spin-cavity systems, which have been studied for many years. Cavity QED with SC qubits has also been experimentally demonstrated. Table II lists data for different cavities and resonators.

In general, the dynamics of a cavity-QED system consisting of a cavity mode and a TLS can be described by the universal Hamiltonian

$$H = H_{\text{TLS}} + H_{\text{cavity}} + H_{\text{TLS-cavity}}.$$
 (2)

Here H_{TLS} is the Hamiltonian of the TLS $H_{\text{TLS}} = \hbar \omega_{\text{TLS}} \sigma_{\text{TLS}}^+ \sigma_{\text{TLS}}^-$, where ω_{TLS} is the energy gap between the ground and excited states of the TLS, and σ_{TLS}^+ (σ_{TLS}^-) denotes the TLS raising (lowering) operator. H_{cavity} is the Hamiltonian of the cavity mode $H_{\text{cavity}} = \hbar \omega_{\text{cavity}} (a^{\dagger} a + 1/2)$, where a^{\dagger} (a) is the creation (annihilation) operator of cavity photons with frequency ω_{cavity} . Lastly, $H_{\text{TLS-cavity}}$ describes the interation between the TLS and the cavity mode:

$$H_{\text{TLS-cavity}} = \hbar g_{\text{TLS-cavity}} (\sigma_{\text{TLS}}^+ + \sigma_{\text{TLS}}^-) (a^\dagger + a), \qquad (3)$$

where $g_{TLS-cavity}$ is the coupling strength between the TLS and the cavity.

In the interaction picture with respect to $H_0 = H_{TLS} + H_{cavity}$, the Hamiltonian becomes

$$H_{I} = \hbar g_{\text{TLS-cavity}} (\sigma_{\text{TLS}}^{+} a e^{-i\Delta t} + \sigma_{\text{TLS}}^{-} a^{\dagger} e^{i\Delta t} + \sigma_{\text{TLS}}^{+} a^{\dagger} e^{i\omega_{+}t} + \sigma_{\text{TLS}}^{-} a e^{-i\omega_{+}t}),$$
(4)

where $\Delta = \omega_{\text{cavity}} - \omega_{\text{TLS}}$ is the detuning between the cavity mode and the TLS, and $\omega_{+} = \omega_{cavity} + \omega_{TLS}$. Depending on the relation between the system parameters, three different regimes are identified: the weak-coupling regime where $g \leq$ κ , γ , the strong-coupling regime where κ , $\gamma \ll g \ll \omega_{\text{TLS}}$, ω_{cavity} , and the ultrastrong-coupling regime where $g \sim \omega_{\text{TLS}}$, $\omega_{\text{cavity}} (\gg \kappa, \gamma)$. In the weak- and strong-coupling regimes, the coupling strength $g_{\text{TLS-cavity}}$ is much smaller than the frequencies of the two subsystems. At the same time, the so-called counterrotating terms, i.e., those proportional to $\exp(\pm i\omega_{\pm}t)$, oscillate rapidly and their average over a time scale larger than $1/\omega_{cavity}$ becomes zero. Thus, these terms lead to small and fast oscillations added to the otherwise smooth dynamics of the system, and they can be neglected in the rotating-wave approximation (RWA). The reduced interaction Hamiltonian becomes

$$H_{I} = \hbar g_{\text{TLS-cavity}} (\sigma_{\text{TLS}}^{+} a e^{-i\Delta t} + \sigma_{\text{TLS}}^{-} a^{\dagger} e^{i\Delta t})$$
(5)

or

TABLE II. Relevant parameters for different types of cavities in recent experiments.

Туре	Frequency (Hz)	Temperature (K)	Coupling strength $g/(2\pi)$ (MHz)	Coupling to decay ratio $g/\max(\kappa, \gamma)$	Cooperativity $g^2/\kappa\gamma$	Quality factor <i>Q</i>
Fabry-Perot cavity (Hood et al., 2000)	1.9×10^{14}	3×10^{2}	110	7.7	~30	$>10^{6}$
Microsphere cavity (Vernooy et al., 1998)	$3.5 imes 10^{14}$	~ 10	20	2.9	22	1.5×10^{6}
Microtoroidal cavity	$1.9 imes 10^{14}$	10^{-5}	70	3.9	~11	$\sim 10^{8}$
(Aoki et al., 2006; Dayan et al., 2008)						
Photonic band-gap cavity (Lev et al., 2004)	$3.5 imes 10^{14}$	3×10^{2}	$1.7 imes 10^{4}$	3.9	$2.5 imes 10^{4}$	4×10^4
Coplanar waveguide resonator	5.4×10^{9}	10^{-5}	$> 3 \times 10^{2}$	$>10^{2}$	$>10^{4}$	$>10^{8}$
(Niemczyk et al., 2010)						
LC resonator (Forn-Díaz et al., 2010)	$8.1 imes 10^{9}$	10^{-5}	820	>10	$4 imes 10^4$	$\sim 10^{3}$

$$H = \hbar \omega_{\text{TLS}} \sigma_{\text{TLS}}^+ \sigma_{\text{TLS}}^- + \hbar \omega_c (a^{\dagger} a + \frac{1}{2}) + \hbar g_{\text{TLS-cavity}} (a^{\dagger} \sigma_{\text{TLS}}^- + a \sigma_{\text{TLS}}^+),$$
(6)

which is known as the Jaynes-Cummings (JC) model. In the ultrastrong-coupling regime, where the coupling strength $g_{TLS-cavity}$ is comparable with the energies of the TLS and the cavity mode, the counterrotating terms also play an important role in determining the system properties and dynamics, and they cannot be neglected (Ashhab and Nori, 2010). The ultrastrong-coupling regime is an active research area.

A. Atoms coupled to cavities

In atom-cavity systems there are many significant physical phenomena that have been experimentally demonstrated in the strong-coupling regime, such as Rabi oscillations (Scully and Zubairy, 1997), which involve the exchange of photons between the atom and the cavity. The atom-cavity system can also be arranged as a waveguide to transfer or store quantum data (Kimble, 2008; Zhou, Dong *et al.*, 2008). Because the coupling between the atom and the cavity mode is intrinsically proportional to a small constant $\alpha^{3/2}$, where α is the fine structure constant (Devoret, Girvin, and Schoelkopf, 2007), it is difficult to significantly increase the atom-cavity coupling strength.

In past years, rapid progress has been made in this field. Recent experimental demonstrations of strong coupling have been achieved in several kinds of cavities, such as FP cavities (Hood *et al.*, 2000; Hood, Kimble, and Ye, 2001; Gleyzes *et al.*, 2007), microsphere cavities (Vernooy *et al.*, 1998; Buck and Kimble, 2003), photonic band-gap cavities (Lev *et al.*, 2004; Song *et al.*, 2005; Greentree *et al.*, 2006), and microtoroidal cavities (Aoki *et al.*, 2006; Dayan *et al.*, 2008; Zhu *et al.*, 2010; Özdemir *et al.*, 2011). For example, in a toroidal cavity, the coupling between the atom and the cavity can exceed 700 MHz, and the relevant coupling-to-dissipation ratio can reach 40, which lies in the strong-coupling regime.

B. Spins coupled to cavities

Spins can also be placed in cavities and interact with cavity photons. Such a spin-cavity system, whose dynamics can usually be described by the same simple Hamiltonian (6) (where the index "TLS" is replaced by "spin"), can therefore be employed to realize cavity QED. Furthermore, most spin systems, such as electron spins in quantum dots that are embedded in a solid-state chip and controlled by voltages, exhibit good scalability and tunability, which are vital elements for experimentally observing cavity-QED phenomena and designing quantum devices.

In the past few years, spin-cavity systems have been theoretically analyzed and experimentally demonstrated. Quantum dots can be integrated into micropillar cavities (Reithmaier *et al.*, 2004; Press *et al.*, 2007), microdisk cavities (Imamoğlu *et al.*, 1999; Peter *et al.*, 2005; Witzany *et al.*, 2011) or photonic crystal cavities (Hennessy *et al.*, 2007; Faraon *et al.*, 2008; Nomura *et al.*, 2010; Yoshie *et al.*, 2011; Carter *et al.*, 2012), and strong coupling with the photon field in the cavity can be achieved. Atomic impurity spins, especially NV centers, can also couple to microsphere cavities (Park, Cook, and Wang, 2006), microtoroidal cavities (Chen *et al.*, 2011), or photonic crystal cavities (Tomljenovic-Hanic, Steel, and Martijn de Sterke, 2006; Zagoskin *et al.*, 2007; Su, Greentree, and Hollenberg, 2009).

C. Superconducting qubits coupled to resonators

Recently, a growing new subfield in SC qubit research is finding physical phenomena in SC circuits analogous to the ones in atomic physics and quantum optics. A high-quality microwave resonator can be coupled to SC qubits, which can be used to realize cavity-QED where the SC qubit is regarded as an artificial atom (You and Nori, 2005, 2011; Buluta, Ashhab, and Nori, 2011). The resonator can be either a CPW resonator or an *LC* resonator. The dynamics of such SC circuits can be described by the Hamiltonian in Eq. (4), where the index TLS is replaced by SC denoting the SC qubit. In this Hamiltonian, the decay from the resonator and spontaneous emission are neglected.

The coupling strength between matter and the cavity mode is determined by both the transition dipole moment and the vacuum field strength. A SC qubit can have a large effective transition dipole moment, e.g., the effective electric dipole moment of a charge qubit is $\sim 10^4$ times larger than that of an alkali atom (Blais et al., 2004). Moreover, in a quasi-1D cavity, such as a CPW resonator, the microwave field is confined to a much smaller volume than in a conventional 3D optical or microwave cavity. This can make the field strength in the quasi-1D cavity much larger (about 100 times or more) than in a 3D cavity. Owing to the large dipole moment of a SC qubit and the strong electromagnetic field in a quasi-1D cavity, the SC qubit can couple to the quasi-1D cavity mode much more strongly than an atom or a spin couples to a 3D cavity. Therefore, it becomes easier to reach the strong-, or even ultrastrong-, coupling regime using a SC circuit consisting of a SC qubit and a quasi-1D cavity. Indeed, the strong- (Wallraff et al., 2004) and ultrastrong- (Niemczyk et al., 2010) coupling regimes have been experimentally realized in this SC-cavity system. In the usual strongcoupling regime, the counterrotating terms (i.e., $\sigma_{\rm SC}^+ a^{\dagger}$ and $\sigma_{\rm SC}^{-}a$) can be neglected and the RWA is valid. However, in the ultrastrong-coupling regime (Ashhab and Nori, 2010), the counterrotating terms also play an important role and cannot be neglected. Note that either an atom or a spin can also be placed in a quasi-1D cavity (see Sec. IV.A), but its coupling to the quasi-1D cavity mode is still much smaller than that of a SC qubit because the SC qubit has a much larger transition dipole moment.

For charge qubits, electric fields are well suited for coupling to the qubits (You, Tsai, and Nori, 2003). Note that charge qubits can also be designed with a loop, such that they can also interact with magnetic fields (You and Nori, 2003). A SC circuit involving a CPW resonator and a charge qubit was theoretically proposed by Blais *et al.* (2004, 2007) and experimentally demonstrated by Wallraff *et al.* (2004), where a strong electric coupling between a single photon and a charge qubit was achieved. In this setup, a charge qubit with two identical Josephson junctions is integrated into the ground planes of the transmission line at or near the antinode of the standing wave of the voltage on the SC wire for maximum coupling, as shown in Fig. 4. The dynamics of this system can be described by the Hamiltonian in Eq. (4), and the strength of the coupling between the charge qubit and the SC resonator can in principle reach the ultrastrongcoupling regime (Devoret, Girvin, and Schoelkopf, 2007). A similar structure (see Fig. 4) and mechanism are also used for the electric coupling of phase qubits with SC resonators (Sillanpää, Park, and Simmonds, 2007; Hofheinz *et al.*, 2008, 2009), where the phase qubits are placed on the two sides of the transmission line and coupled to it via capacitors, sitting on two antinodes of the electric field. The photon in the CPW resonator acts as a quantum bus that transfers quantum states between the two phase qubits.

Flux qubits can also couple to CPW resonators via the induced magnetic field (Yang, Chu, and Han, 2003, 2004; Niemczyk *et al.*, 2010; Peropadre *et al.*, 2010), as shown in Fig. 4. A flux qubit placed at or near an antinode of the standing wave of the current on the SC wire can strongly couple to the SC resonator via the mutual inductance. In

such a SC circuit, the vacuum Rabi splitting in the transmission spectrum was observed, which means that strong coupling was achieved. Furthermore, by placing an additional Josephson junction at the central SC wire, where the flux qubit is fabricated, the inductive coupling between the qubit and the resonator can be enhanced and can bring the system to the ultrastrong-coupling regime (Niemczyk *et al.*, 2010).

The other type of resonators, LC resonators, can also be integrated into SC circuits and can couple to charge and phase qubits via capacitors (electric field) or flux qubits via the mutual inductance (magnetic field); see Fig. 4. For example, in flux qubits, the lowest two quantum states, which have clockwise and anticlockwise supercurrents in the qubit loop, are used to denote the two basis states of the qubit. By employing the magnetic field produced by the current, the flux qubit can strongly couple to the LC circuit via a large mutual inductance between them. Such flux qubit-resonator



FIG. 4 (color online). Schematic diagrams of *LC* resonators (second column) and coplanar waveguide resonators (third column) coupled to three types of superconducting qubits.

systems have been experimentally demonstrated and vacuum Rabi oscillations have also been observed in experiment (Chiorescu *et al.*, 2004; Johansson *et al.*, 2006), where a three-junction flux qubit is enclosed by a SQUID that is inductively coupled to the qubit. Recently, Forn-Díaz *et al.* (2010) observed the Bloch-Siegert shift in this flux qubit-resonator system and demonstrated that the coupling strength between them can lie in the ultrastrong-coupling regime.

IV. THEORETICAL PRINCIPLES AND PROPOSALS FOR HYBRID SYSTEMS INTEGRATING ATOMS OR SPINS IN SUPERCONDUCTING CIRCUITS

A. Atoms or spins coupled to superconducting resonators (without superconducting qubits)

Besides SC qubits, atoms and spins can also couple to CPW resonators, producing a hybrid cavity-QED system. Atoms can be trapped either by electrostatic or magnetic fields generated by the chip or by trapping potentials from externally applied laser beams (André *et al.*, 2006; Rabl and Zoller, 2007) and couple to a CPW resonator on the chip (André *et al.*, 2006; Rabl *et al.*, 2006; Rabl and Zoller, 2007; Tordrup and Mølmer, 2008; Tordrup, Negretti, and Mølmer, 2008; Petrosyan *et al.*, 2009; Verdú *et al.*, 2009; H. R. Zhang *et al.*, 2009; Deng *et al.*, 2010); see Fig. 5(a).

Without extra trapping techniques, impurity spins, such as NV centers in diamond, can couple to a CPW resonator by

placing the diamond sample on the resonator, or impurities can be directly created in the Si substrate (Imamoğlu, 2009; Wesenberg *et al.*, 2009; Kubo *et al.*, 2010, 2012; Schuster *et al.*, 2010; Amsüss *et al.*, 2011; Bushev *et al.*, 2011; Yang, Hu *et al.*, 2011; Yang, Yin *et al.*, 2011; Ping, Gauger, and Benjamin, 2012; Sandner *et al.*, 2012; Ranjan *et al.*, 2013), as shown in Fig. 5(b).

In addition, quantum dots can also be integrated into a CPW resonator and coupled to the electromagnetic field in the resonator (Childress, Sørensen, and Lukin, 2004), as shown in Fig. 6. There have been a few recent proposals for coupling the spin state of the quantum dot to the electric field in the CPW resonator, generally mediated by the orbital state. In all of these proposals, the coupling between the field of the resonator and the orbital state is the electric-dipole coupling. The coupling between the spin state and the orbital state could be achieved via the application of an inhomogeneous magnetic field (Burkard and Imamoğlu, 2006; Cottet and Kontos, 2010; Hu, Liu, and Nori, 2012), spin-orbit coupling (Trif, Golovach, and Loss, 2008; Hu, Liu, and Nori, 2012), or the exchange interaction (Jin et al., 2012). A number of recent experiments demonstrated the coupling between quantum dots and CPW resonators. Delbecq et al. (2011) and Frey et al. (2012) demonstrated the coupling by using the dispersive frequency shift of the resonator as a probe for the charge state of the quantum dots. The results obtained using the resonator agreed with those obtained through transport measurements. In another experiment (Petersson et al., 2012), a



FIG. 5 (color online). Schematic diagrams of coplanar waveguide resonators with (a) atoms or (b) spins. The sinusoidal curves describe the electric field in the coplanar waveguide resonator and the concentric circles in (b) denote the magnetic field.

FIG. 6 (color online). Schematic diagram of coplanar waveguide resonators with spins in quantum dots. The sinusoidal curves describe the electric field in the coplanar waveguide resonator. (a) A nanowire quantum dot, and (b) an electrostatically defined quantum dot.

spin qubit in a double quantum dot was manipulated via a classical microwave signal applied through the CPW resonator, with the spin-charge interface provided by the spin-orbit interaction. More recently, strong coupling between a CPW resonator and the charge degree of freedom of a double quantum dot was demonstrated through the observation of the vacuum Rabi splitting in spectroscopic measurements of the resonator (Toida, Nakajima, and Komiyama, 2013). All of these experiments can be seen as first steps towards the coherent coupling between the spin state of quantum dots and a SC resonator in the few-photon regime.

B. Atoms or spins coupled to superconducting resonators and qubits

In an ideal HQC, the SC circuit provides the advantage of scalability on a small chip owing to the rapid progress on microlithography and micro-etching techniques, as well as ease of control due to the strong coupling of SC qubits with external fields. At the same time, atoms and spins can be integrated into the circuit by using trapping or doping techniques. Such a HQC involving SC qubits and atoms (or spins) thereby combines "the best of two worlds": the rapid operations of the SC circuits and the long coherence times of the atoms (or spins), as well as scalability; see Fig. 7.

However, effectively integrating such systems and controlling the resultant hybrid circuits are still a challenge. In the remainder of this section, we first introduce the basic mechanisms of HQCs and then highlight recent theoretical proposals and experimental demonstrations for implementing various types of HQCs. Atoms and spins can be initialized, manipulated, and measured through their interaction with electromagnetic fields. SC qubits also interact with electromagnetic fields, which are used to initialize, manipulate, and measure them. Therefore, electromagnetic fields can be utilized to couple atomic (or spin) systems to SC qubits in order to facilitate the transfer of information between the two systems.

There are two different types of coupling to electromagnetic fields: electric coupling and magnetic coupling. Generally, most atomic systems (including ions and molecules) couple to photons via the electric field, while spins involve magnetic coupling. Moreover, electric fields are well suited for coupling to SC charge and phase qubits, while flux qubits couple more easily to magnetic fields threading the qubit loop. Note that charge qubits can also be designed with a loop, such that they also interact with magnetic fields.

Atoms (or spins) and SC qubits can interact with each other directly through electric or magnetic fields. Alternatively, they can be linked indirectly via a quantum "bridge" or data bus, which mediates the exchange of quantum information between the atomic (or spin) memory and the SC processor.

Each type of HQC has its advantages and disadvantages. Direct-coupling hybrid circuits have simple and minimal structures. However, the direct coupling between an atom (or spin) and a SC qubit is usually weak and not tunable. In such cases, indirect coupling through a data bus, which interacts strongly with both systems, can be advantageous. As an additional advantage of indirect coupling, quantum cavities, such as CPW resonators, can be much larger in size than SC qubits, so that it is relatively easy to place many qubits in the same cavity.



FIG. 7 (color online). Schematic diagram showing how to construct a hybrid quantum processor via a high-fidelity quantum data bus or "bridge" (indirect coupling) or without any intermediary (direct coupling). For fast and robust operations, superconducting circuits can serve as the processor; for long coherence times, atomic (or spin) systems can play the role of the memory in a hybrid quantum system. In the direct-coupling case, superconducting qubits couple with atoms (or spins) via electromagnetic fields. In the indirect-coupling case, a high-fidelity quantum resonator (e.g., coplanar waveguide resonator) acts as a data bus to transfer (quantum) information between the two components of the hybrid quantum system.

1. Direct coupling

In this case, atomic (or spin) systems couple directly to SC qubits via electromagnetic fields. The dynamics of this type of hybrid circuit can be described by a total Hamiltonian consisting of terms that describe the two components separately and the interaction H_{int} between them (Imamoğlu *et al.*, 1999),

$$H_{\text{atom}} + H_{\text{SC}} + H_{\text{int}} = \hbar \omega_{\text{atom}} \sigma_{\text{atom}}^+ \sigma_{\text{atom}}^- + \hbar \omega_{\text{SC}} \sigma_{\text{SC}}^+ \sigma_{\text{SC}}^- + \hbar g_{\text{atom-SC}} (\sigma_{\text{atom}}^+ \sigma_{\text{SC}}^- + \sigma_{\text{atom}}^- \sigma_{\text{SC}}^+),$$
(7)

where $g_{\text{atom-SC}}$ is the coupling strength between the atom and the SC qubit. The interaction term describes the dynamics of the energy exchange between the two systems. Generally, this term can be ignored when the two coupled systems are far detuned from each other,

$$|\omega_{\rm atom} - \omega_{\rm SC}| \gg g,\tag{8}$$

and is active only for resonant or near-resonant systems,

$$|\omega_{\rm atom} - \omega_{\rm SC}| \ll g. \tag{9}$$

Note that the index "atom" is replaced by "spin" for the hybrid circuit consisting of a spin and a SC qubit.

2. Indirect coupling

A high-quality quantum cavity, such as an *LC* resonator or a CPW resonator, can be employed as an intermediary to link atoms (or spins) and SC qubits. Because of recent experimental advances on CPW resonators, much recent attention has focused on this type of resonator.

SC qubits can be integrated on the CPW resonator and couple to the electric or magnetic field of the resonator. A charge or phase qubit placed at or near an antinode of the standing wave of the voltage on the SC wire can couple strongly to the electric field of the standing wave (You, Tsai, and Nori, 2003; Blais *et al.*, 2004; Schoelkopf and Girvin, 2008). A flux qubit, on the other hand, couples more naturally to the magnetic field and would therefore be placed at or near an antinode of the standing wave of the current (Niemczyk *et al.*, 2010).

In a frame rotating at the cavity frequency, the dynamics of this system can be described by the Hamiltonian

$$H_{\rm SC} + H_{\rm SC-cavity} = \frac{\hbar \delta_{\rm SC}}{2} \sigma_{\rm SC}^{z} + \hbar g_{\rm SC-cavity} (\sigma_{\rm SC}^{+} a + \sigma_{\rm SC}^{-} a^{\dagger}), \quad (10)$$

where δ_{SC} is the detuning of the SC qubit from the resonance frequency of the cavity, and $g_{SC-cavity}$ denotes the coupling strength between the SC qubit and the cavity field.

Atoms (or spins) can also be integrated on the CPW resonator and couple to the electromagnetic field (André *et al.*, 2006; Rabl *et al.*, 2006; Rabl and Zoller, 2007; Tordrup and Mølmer, 2008; Tordrup, Negretti, and Mølmer, 2008; Petrosyan *et al.*, 2009; Verdú *et al.*, 2009) as described in Sec. IV.A. The dynamics of this system, consisting of a single atom (or spin) and a cavity, can be described by the Hamiltonian

$$H_{\text{atom}} + H_{\text{atom-cavity}} = \hbar \delta_{\text{atom}} \sigma_{\text{atom}}^{+} \sigma_{\text{atom}}^{-} + \hbar g_{\text{atom-cavity}} (\sigma_{\text{atom}}^{+} a + \sigma_{\text{atom}}^{-} a^{\dagger}),$$
(11)

where δ_{atom} denotes the atom-cavity detuning, and $g_{\text{atom-cavity}}$ is the coupling strength between the single atom and the field. For a spin-cavity system, the index atom in Eq. (11) is replaced by spin. If an ensemble with N atoms (or spins) is utilized, the Hamiltonian takes the Tavis-Cummings form

$$H_{\text{atom}} + H_{\text{atom-cavity}} = \hbar \delta_{\text{atom}} \pi_{\text{atom}}^{\dagger} \pi_{\text{atom}} \pi_{\text{atom}} + \hbar g'_{\text{atom-cavity}} (\pi_{\text{atom}}^{\dagger} a + \pi_{\text{atom}} a^{\dagger}),$$
(12)

where $\pi_{\text{atom}} = (1/\sqrt{N})\sum_i \sigma_{\text{atom},i}^- [\pi_{\text{atom}}^+ = (1/\sqrt{N})\sum_i \sigma_{\text{atom},i}^+]$ is the collective atomic annihilation (excitation) operator, and the index *i* denotes the different atoms (or spins) in the ensemble. Here the effective coupling strength becomes $g'_{\text{atom(spin)-cavity}} = \sqrt{N}g_{\text{atom(spin)-cavity}}$ (Dicke, 1954), which helps achieve strong coupling between the atoms (or spins) and the cavity. It should be noted, however, that the effective coupling strength cannot be increased indefinitely by increasing the size of the cavity and along with it the number of atoms (or spins) that can fit inside the cavity. If the size of the cavity is increased, the coupling strength per atom (or spin) decreases as the inverse of the square root of the mode volume, such that the gain in increasing number is counterbalanced by the reduction in coupling strength per atom (or spin).

There are two main protocols for transferring quantum information through the intermediary bridge: via the exchange of either real or virtual photons. In the case of realphoton-based protocols, when two subsystems are coupled to a fixed cavity, one subsystem can be tuned into resonance with the cavity for a period of time to transfer the quantum information from the subsystem to the cavity and then the other subsystem is tuned into resonance with the cavity for a period of time, so as to finally transfer the quantum information into this latter subsystem. Alternatively, if the cavity is tunable, it can be tuned into resonance with one of the two subsystems for a period of time such that quantum information is transferred from the subsystem to the cavity, and then the cavity is tuned into resonance with the other subsystem for another period of time to complete the information transfer. In the case of virtual-photon-mediated interactions, the atoms (or spins) and the SC qubit are tuned into resonance with each other, while the cavity is off resonance with them and typically has a higher frequency. The cavity can then be adiabatically eliminated from the physical picture, leading to the effective interaction Hamiltonian (Fröhlich, 1950; Nakajima, 1955; Imamoğlu et al., 1999)

$$H_{\rm eff} = \hbar g_{\rm eff} (\sigma_{\rm atom}^+ \sigma_{\rm SC}^- + \sigma_{\rm atom}^- \sigma_{\rm SC}^+). \tag{13}$$

The effective coupling strength is

$$g_{\rm eff} = \frac{g_{\rm atom-cavity}g_{\rm SC-cavity}}{\Delta},\tag{14}$$

where Δ is the detuning of the two systems from the cavity frequency.

In order to achieve much longer coherence times in spin ensembles, the information could further be transferred from electron spins to nuclear spins by using hyperfine interactions between them (Childress *et al.*, 2006; Dutt *et al.*, 2007; Jiang *et al.*, 2008; Wu *et al.*, 2010; Amsüss *et al.*, 2011; van der Sar *et al.*, 2012). This would improve the coherence times from several hundred microseconds in the electron spins to seconds in the nuclear spins, which would be a great improvement.

C. Direct-coupling hybrid circuits

Recently, Marcos et al. (2010) proposed a hybrid SC circuit with a three-junction flux qubit magnetically coupled to a single NV center or an ensemble of NV centers in diamond located at the center of the SC loop, as shown in Fig. 8(a). These two systems have similar energy splittings: the energy gap between the two eigenstates of the flux qubit is typically a few GHz, while the NV centers' electronic ground state has a zero-field splitting $\Delta \sim 2\pi \times 2.87$ GHz between the $m_s = 0$ and $m_s = \pm 1$ sublevels. By introducing an external magnetic field W^{ext} , the NV center can be tuned into resonance with the flux qubit, and the flux qubit can be brought near the degeneracy point of the clockwise and anticlockwise supercurrent states, which produce an additional magnetic field W^{FQ} . The interaction between the NV centers and the magnetic field produced by the flux qubit leads to a coupling between the two systems.

The details can be described as follows. The axis of the NV centers is defined as the z axis and it can be taken to lie in the plane of the flux qubit. The component of the external field



FIG. 8 (color online). (a) Schematic diagram of a hybrid system consisting of a spin ensemble and a superconducting flux qubit. (b) Schematic diagram of a hybrid system integrating the unit in (a) with a superconducting resonator.

that is parallel to the z axis isolates the NV center as a twolevel subsystem involving the states $m_s = 0$ and $m_s = +1$, while the component of the field that is perpendicular to the qubit loop is set to half a flux quantum and brings the flux qubit near the degeneracy point. The dynamics of this process can be described by the Hamiltonian

$$H = \frac{\varepsilon}{2}\sigma_z + \lambda\sigma_x + DS_z^2 + W_z^{\text{ext}}S_z + \sigma_z \vec{W}^{\text{FQ}} \cdot \vec{S}, \quad (15)$$

where $\vec{\sigma}$ denotes the Pauli operators of the flux qubit, *S* describes the spin of the NV center, λ is the tunneling strength between the two supercurrents states, and ε is the bias in the two-well limit of the flux qubit, which is controlled by the external field perpendicular to the qubit loop. D = 2.87 GHz is the zero-field splitting of the NV center. $W_z^{\text{ext}} = g_e \mu_B B_z$ is the parallel component of the external magnetic field, which adjusts the energy splitting of the NV center and \vec{W}^{FQ} corresponds to the induced magnetic field of the two currents of the flux qubit.

By rotating the flux-qubit terms by an angle $\cos\theta \equiv \epsilon/2\omega$ (where $\omega \equiv \sqrt{\epsilon^2/4 + \lambda^2}$) via a unitary transformation and making the RWA, the effective Hamiltonian (in a frame rotating with frequency ω) of near-resonance interaction between the NV center and the flux qubit can be obtained from Eq. (15):

$$H_{\rm eff} = \frac{\delta}{2} \sigma_z^s + \frac{\cos\theta}{2} W_z^{\rm FQ} \sigma_z \sigma_z^s + \left(\frac{\sin\theta}{\sqrt{2}} W_{\perp}^{\rm FQ} \sigma_- \sigma_+^s + \text{H.c.}\right),$$
(16)

where $\vec{\sigma}^s$ denotes the Pauli operators of the electron-spin states of the NV center, $\vec{\sigma}$ refers to the Pauli operators of the the flux qubit in the rotated basis describing the two eigenstates of the flux qubit, and $\delta = D + W_z^{\text{ext}} - \omega$ is the detuning of the NV center from the eigenenergy of the flux qubit. The last two terms of this effective Hamiltonian describe the exchange of energy between the NV center and the flux qubit.

In order to obtain the maximum $g_{\text{max}} = W_{\perp}^{\text{FQ}}/\sqrt{2}$ of the coupling strength $g = \sin\theta W_{\perp}^{\text{FQ}}/\sqrt{2}$, one can bias the flux qubit at the degeneracy point $\varepsilon = 0$, where $\theta = \pi/2$. Simultaneously, at this point the energy levels and dynamics are insensitive to small fluctuations of ε .

With a flux qubit of size $L \sim 1 \ \mu$ m and critical current $I_C \sim 0.5 \ \mu$ A, the coupling strength between the NV center and the flux qubit is $g/2\pi \sim 10$ kHz (Marcos *et al.*, 2010). However, the effective coupling between the flux qubit and a single NV center is too weak for any realistic demonstration, using current technology. This coupling strength can be enhanced by reducing the size of the flux qubit or replacing the single NV center with an ensemble (Marcos *et al.*, 2010). Recently, this proposal was demonstrated in experiment (Zhu *et al.*, 2011) (introduced in Sec. V.A). However, because the size of the flux qubit limits the number of NV centers in the ensemble, the coupling strength cannot be substantially enhanced in this way.

This circuit can also achieve the coherent coupling of two or more NV centers by employing the flux qubit as a virtual intermediary, which is a possible protocol to eventually implement many-qubit quantum gate operations for spins. In addition, if one could integrate this circuit encompassing a single NV center in a CPW resonator, as shown in Fig. 8(b), the single NV center could be effectively coupled to the photon via the magnetic field in the resonator (Twamley and Barrett, 2010). Furthermore, this proposal can also be used to couple an atom ensemble and a flux qubit. For example, Hoffman *et al.* (2011) discussed a scheme to couple trapped ⁸⁷Rb atoms to a flux qubit via magnetic-dipole coupling, where the atoms are trapped by an ultrathin fiber to less than 10 μ m above the surface of the flux qubit. Also, based on the strong coupling between the spin ensemble and the flux qubits, one can construct a hybrid array with flux qubits and NV centers to simulate a Jaynes-Cummings lattice (Hümmer *et al.*, 2012), which can be used to demonstrate the transition between localized and delocalized phases.

D. Indirect-coupling hybrid circuits

In indirect-coupling HQCs, a quantum cavity (e.g., CPW resonator) transfers the quantum information between atoms (or spins) and SC qubits. As indicated in Sec. III.C, the CPW resonator can be strongly coupled to the SC qubits. In order to achieve strong coupling between the atoms (or spins) and the CPW resonator, a large number of atoms (or spins) can be placed on the resonator, which is typically much larger than a SC qubit.

1. Atomic hybrid quantum circuits

Atomic systems can be integrated into CPW resonators and implement quantum information processing with SC circuits. This kind of hybrid circuit could be called atomic hybrid quantum circuits. Owing to recent progress in cooling and trapping techniques, many groups are devoting efforts to developing such circuits (Sørensen *et al.*, 2004; Tian *et al.*, 2004; Rabl *et al.*, 2006; Tordrup and Mølmer, 2008; Tordrup, Negretti, and Mølmer, 2008; Petrosyan *et al.*, 2009; Verdú *et al.*, 2009; H. R. Zhang *et al.*, 2009; Deng *et al.*, 2010)].

Early proposals for hybrid systems.-Before focus was placed on CPW resonators, some other couplers or bridges were used in several early hybrid-circuit proposals. Sørensen et al. (2004) theoretically designed a hybrid system consisting of two individual atoms (or one atom and one solid-state qubit) that are linked by a SC wire, as shown in Fig. 9(a). A single atom, used as a qubit, is trapped above a conducting disk, which is connected to a second disk via a thin SC wire. Because of the capacitive coupling between the atom and the conductor, a single and long-lived mode exciton can be produced in the conductor, which can be transferred to the SC cavity via the SC wire. On the other side of this setup, another atom or a solid-state qubit (such as a SC qubit) is capacitively coupled to the second disk connected to the SC wire. The dynamics of this setup can be described as follows. If the atom is excited to a Rydberg state with a large dipole moment, the charge distribution in the SC wire is modified accordingly. This charge redistribution extends throughout the wire. Another atom or a solid-state qubit placed at the other end of the wire would be affected by the change in the electric field, which is produced by the charge in the conductor below it. Consequently, these two atoms (or an atom and a solid-state qubit) are effectively coupled through their mutual interaction with the SC wire. This coupling can be either electrostatic or electrodynamic. In such a hybrid system, the



FIG. 9 (color online). Two early proposed architectures for implementing hybrid systems. (a) Sørensen *et al.* (2004) proposed a design with a superconducting wire in a cavity to link two systems (e.g., a trapped atom and a superconducting qubit), and (b) Tian *et al.* (2004) proposed a scheme using a coaxial cavity to link an atom and a superconducting qubit. (a) and (b) are adapted from Sørensen *et al.*, 2004 and Tian *et al.*, 2004, respectively.

coupling between the atom and the SC wire could theoretically exceed 1 MHz, which is much larger than the decoherence rates of Rydberg atoms and solid-state qubits. In spite of its simplicity, experimental difficulties, such as the trapping of atoms at exact positions, are still a challenge, and this proposal has not yet been realized.

Another early prototype of atomic HQCs proposed by Tian et al. (2004) used a SC cavity made of two parallel cylindrical rods to link a trapped ion and a SC charge qubit. This proposed circuit consists of three parts: the quantum optical side (a trapped ion), the bridge (a coaxial cavity), and the solidstate side (a charge qubit), as shown in Fig. 9(b). On the quantum optical side, a charged ion is trapped in a 1D harmonic potential. Two atomic ground states, which are coupled by a laser-induced Raman transition, are used to represent the two qubit states, and they can be controlled by the two trap electrodes via the electric field [see Fig. 9(b)]. On the solid-state side, a charge qubit is utilized in this proposal, and quantum operations on it can be implemented by adjusting the gate voltage. Between the ion and the solid-state qubit, a superconducting cavity plays the role of the bridge: one side is capacitively coupled to one of the trap electrodes of the optical part, and the other side interacts with the charge qubit via another contact capacitor. Consequently, an effective coupling between the ion and the charge qubit can be derived by adiabatically eliminating the cavity. By employing a "fast swap" gate that can be implemented on a time scale of nanoseconds (Tian *et al.*, 2004) and together with singlequbit rotations, one could achieve entanglement and information exchange between the ion and charge qubit. Also, this proposal has not yet been realized in experiment.

Electric-coupling HQCs.—Another approach to constructing hybrid systems based on SC circuits was proposed by Rabl *et al.* (2006) and extended by Rabl and Zoller (20070, which consists of atoms and a charge qubit (or a transmon qubit) electrically coupled to a CPW resonator. Afterward, this type of atomic HQC was recognized as a promising approach and most architectures employed similar structures, as shown in Fig. 10(a).

In this type of atomic HQC (Rabl *et al.*, 2006; Rabl and Zoller, 2007; Tordrup and Mølmer, 2008; Tordrup, Negretti, and Mølmer, 2008; Petrosyan *et al.*, 2009; H. R. Zhang *et al.*, 2009; Deng *et al.*, 2010), the clouds of atoms (or polar molecules) and charge qubits would be placed at the maximum of the microwave field. Thus, atoms could be positioned parallel to the CPW resonator and longitudinally at the antinode of the electric field, while the charge qubit could



FIG. 10 (color online). Schematic diagrams of two different types of hybrid systems consisting of atomic ensembles and superconducting resonators classified according to the nature of coupling between the atoms and the resonator. (a) The ensemble of atoms couples to the coplanar waveguide resonator via the *electric* field. (b) The ensemble of atoms couples to the coplanar waveguide resonator via the *magnetic* field. In both (a) and (b), superconducting qubits are also coupled to the coplanar waveguide resonator. Thus, this resonator can be utilized as a data bus to indirectly couple atoms and SC qubits. Here the charge qubits are integrated on the ground plane at the antinode of the electric field, whereas flux qubits are integrated in the resonator at the antinode of the magnetic field.

be integrated on the ground planes of the CPW resonator also at the antinode of the electric field; see Fig. 10(a). Both the atoms and the SC qubit electrically couple to the resonator via microwave fields, which are used as a quantum data bus. The dynamics of such an atomic HQC can be described by Hamiltonians such as those in Eqs. (10) and (12).

In contrast with the coupling strength between a SC qubit and the resonator, the electric-coupling strength of an atom is much smaller. In order to achieve strong coupling, atoms (or polar molecules) with large electric dipole moments and suitable frequencies should be employed in this type of atomic HQC. Furthermore, by replacing a single atom with an atomic ensemble, the effective coupling strength between the ensemble and the resonator can become much larger and (depending on the number of atoms) can lie in the strong-coupling regime, which enhances the experimental feasibility. For example, in Rabl *et al.* (2006), the proposed number of polar molecules in the ensemble was ~10⁶ with the single-molecule coupling strength $g_{\text{atom-cavity}} ~ 2\pi \times 10$ kHz. The effective coupling strength is then $g_{\text{eff}} ~ 2\pi \times 10$ MHz, which is comparable with that of SC qubits, $g_{\text{SC-cavity}} ~ 2\pi \times 10$ MHz.

Based on this atomic HQC, swap operations between the different components, rotation operations on the atomic ensemble, and entangling operations between different ensembles could be implemented by transferring real photons between two qubits (either atoms or SC qubits) in the resonator and by operations on the SC qubit, which can be dynamically controlled via an external magnetic field threading it, as proposed by Rabl et al. (2006). In this proposal, polar molecule ensembles were used to couple to the resonator by a laserinduced Raman transition because of their relatively large electric-dipole coupling and ability to control the Raman transition. Moreover, quantum states could also be transferred between the atomic system and the SC qubit via virtual photons (H. R. Zhang et al., 2009). Note that flux qubits can also be integrated in atomic HQCs with a CPW resonator. Because a flux qubit would interact with the resonator via magnetic coupling, it should be placed at the antinode of the magnetic field. Thus, if one can experimentally cool and trap the atoms above the CPW resonator, this atomic HQC would be promising to implement novel quantum devices.

Magnetic-coupling HQCs.—Besides electric-dipole coupling, the magnetic dipole moment can also be used to couple atoms to a CPW resonator, while charge qubits electrically couple to the resonator, as shown in Fig. 10(b). In this type of atomic HQC, the atoms would be trapped above and parallel to the CPW resonator at an antinode of the magnetic field between the SC wire and ground planes, and the charge qubit would be integrated on the ground planes at an antinode of the electric field.

For example, Verdú *et al.* (2009) theoretically considered employing a hyperfine transition (at a frequency 6.83 GHz) of ⁸⁷Rb atoms, which constitute the atomic ensemble in the HQC. In this proposal, the ⁸⁷Rb atoms would be positioned slightly above the gap between the SC wire and the ground planes of the CPW resonator, where the magnetic field is strongest. The dynamics of the interaction between the atoms and the resonator can be described by a Hamiltonian of the form given in Eq. (12). Consequently, the quantum state could be transferred between the atomic ensemble and the

resonator. Furthermore, by integrating a SC qubit into the system, this architecture could also implement various quantum gate operations as in the electric-coupling atomic HQCs.

The magnetic coupling between atoms and the resonator can effectively reduce the effect of charge noise in the system. However, the magnetic-coupling strength is still not sufficiently larger [about 40 kHz in Verdú *et al.* (2009)] than the decay rate $\kappa/2\pi \sim 7$ kHz of the resonator. Thus, it is necessary to increase the resonator's quality factor Q and thereby decrease the photon loss rate.

Rydberg atoms in HQCs.—Rydberg atoms possessing large electric dipole moments and suitable frequencies can also be used in atomic HQCs with SC qubits. For instance, the proposal of Petrosyan *et al.* (2009) involving a similar structure of the SC circuit as in Rabl *et al.* (2006) [see Fig. 10(a)] employed Rydberg states of ⁸⁷Rb atoms as the memory of the atomic HQC.

In this proposal, the charge qubit, possessing a large coupling strength and good tunability, was used in the circuit. On the atomic system side, the Rydberg states of ⁸⁷Rb atoms $(|m\rangle$ and $|r\rangle)$ [see Fig. 11(a)] were used to interact with the electric field in the resonator. By making a rotating-frame transformation, the coupling between Rydberg atoms and the CPW resonator can be described by the Hamiltonian

$$H_{ac} = \hbar \Delta_{mg} m^{\dagger} m + \hbar (\Delta_{mg} + \Delta_{rm}) r^{\dagger} r - \hbar (\Omega_{gm} m^{\dagger} g + g_{ac} r^{\dagger} m a + \text{H.c.}), \qquad (17)$$

where $\Delta_{mg} (\Delta_{rm})$ is the detuning between the frequency of an applied field (the photon in the resonator) and the energy difference of the atomic transition $|g\rangle \leftrightarrow |m\rangle$ $(|m\rangle \leftrightarrow |r\rangle)$ $(\Delta_{rm} \simeq -\Delta_{mg} = \Delta$ in this proposal); see Fig. 11(a). The operators $m (m^{\dagger})$, $r (r^{\dagger})$, and $g (g^{\dagger})$ annihilate (create) an atom in states $|m\rangle$, $|r\rangle$, and $|g\rangle$, respectively, and $a (a^{\dagger})$ is the photon annihilation (creation) operator. The Rabi frequency of this applied laser field and the coupling strength of the resonator's photon with the atom are Ω_{gm} and g_{ac} , respectively. When a photon is generated in the resonator, the laser field and the photon would excite the atoms from the ground state $|g\rangle$ to the Rydberg state $|r\rangle$ via a nonresonant inter-



FIG. 11 (color online). Level structure, driving lasers (with Rabi frequencies Ω_{gm} , Ω_{rs} , Ω_{MW} , Ω_1 , and Ω_2), and relevant couplings (with coupling strengths g_{ac} and g) to microwave photons in (a) Petrosyan *et al.* (2009) model; (b) Tordrup, Negretti, and Mølmer (2008) model. (a) and (b) are adapted from Tordrup, Negretti, and Mølmer, 2008 and Petrosyan *et al.*, 2009, respectively.

mediate Rydberg state $|m\rangle$, which is a two-photon transition. In the regime when $\Delta_{mg} \gg g_{ac}$, Ω_{gm} , the population of state $|m\rangle$ can be neglected, and the transition between states $|g\rangle$ and $|r\rangle$ is described by

$$V_{gr} = \hbar g_{\text{eff}}(r^{\dagger}ga + a^{\dagger}g^{\dagger}r), \qquad (18)$$

with $g_{\rm eff} = \Omega_{gm}g_{ac}/\Delta$. Then by introducing another laser field with Rabi frequency Ω_{rs} , the atoms can be transferred from the Rydberg state $|r\rangle$ to the storage state $|s\rangle$ via a two-photon transition.

Thus, the process of transferring a quantum state from the SC qubit to this type of Rydberg atom could be implemented as follows: First, the charge qubit is brought to resonance with the CPW resonator for a duration of time $\tau_{\rm SC} = \pi/(2g_{\rm SC})$ (SC qubit \rightarrow resonator); next, the laser field with Ω_{gi} is turned on for a time duration $\tau_{gr} = \pi/(2\sqrt{Ng_{\rm eff}})$ (resonator \rightarrow Rydberg state $|r\rangle$ of atoms); finally, the laser field with Ω_{rs} is switched on for a time duration $\tau_{rs} = \pi/(2\Omega_{rs})$ (Rydberg state $|r\rangle$ of atoms \rightarrow storage state $|s\rangle$). A similar sequence can be used for the opposite process.

The operation times $[\tau_{gr}, \tau_{rs} \simeq 1 \ \mu s$ in Petrosyan *et al.* (2009)] are much smaller than the relative decay times in this atomic HQC, and the quantum information could therefore be transferred between the SC and atomic qubits. However, auxiliary optical fields can also be absorbed by the SC electrodes of the CPW resonator before driving the atomic transition. A thin metallic mirror can be added to cover the SC electrodes as designed by Petrosyan *et al.* (2009), but reductions in the resonator's quality factor Q and the fidelity of the system may occur. This is a problem that should also be solved.

Many-qubit storage and computation.—In addition to single-channel information processing, atomic HQCs can, in principle, be used for many-qubit storage and computation. Tordrup and Mølmer (2008) and Tordrup, Negretti, and Mølmer (2008) proposed two theoretical methods to achieve this purpose by using an atomic HQC containing an ensemble of polar molecules and a charge qubit.

Tordrup and Mølmer (2008) proposed to store qubit states in different rotational excited states of the molecular ensemble by using Raman transitions. Tordrup, Negretti, and Mølmer (2008) proposed to store qubit states in different collective-excitation modes of plane-wave form. In both of these proposals, quantum gate operations are implemented using an integrated charge qubit.

The proposed storage and retrieval method used by Tordrup, Negretti, and Mølmer (2008) is similar to some of the ideas that are being pursued in more recent proposals and experiments, and we explain it in more detail. In addition to two hyperfine rotational ground states $|g\rangle$ and $|f\rangle$ for qubit storage, an auxiliary rotational ground state $|m\rangle$ and two rotationally and electronically excited states $|e\rangle$ and $|e_{el}\rangle$ are utilized, as shown in Fig. 11(b). The storage process can be described as follows: First the information is stored in the auxiliary collective state $|m, 0\rangle =$ $(1/\sqrt{N})\sum_{i}|g_{1}\cdots m_{i}\cdots g_{N}\rangle$ via a Raman transition; then through a stimulated Raman adiabatic passage process with classical optical fields, the information is transferred to the collective state $|f, \vec{q}_i\rangle = (1/\sqrt{N})\sum_i e^{i\vec{q}_i \cdot \vec{x}_i} |g_1 \cdots f_i \cdots g_N\rangle$, with momentum $\vec{q}_i = \vec{k}_1 - \vec{k}_{2,i}$. The dynamics of this process is described by the Hamiltonian

$$H = \sum_{i} (\Omega_1 e^{i\vec{k}_1 \cdot \vec{x}_i} | e_{el,i}) \langle m_i | + \Omega_2 e^{i\vec{k}_{2,i} \cdot \vec{x}_i} | e_{el,i}) \langle f_i | + \text{H.c.}),$$
(19)

where $\Omega_1 \exp\{i\vec{k}_1 \cdot \vec{x}_i\}$ and $\Omega_2 \exp\{i\vec{k}_{2,i} \cdot \vec{x}_i\}$ describe two classical optical fields. The interaction in the above equation could be used to encode a pattern $\exp\{i\vec{q}_i \cdot \vec{x}_i\}$ in the collective state $|f, \vec{q}_i\rangle$ from the auxiliary collective state $|m, 0\rangle$. The retrieval process could be implemented by reversing the storage procedure. By employing appropriate encoding methods of storing and retrieving quantum information as introduced by Tordrup, Negretti, and Mølmer (2008), in principle, many-qubit storage could be implemented in such a circuit.

To perform a single-qubit operation in the SC circuit, the relevant state should be transferred to the SC qubit through the CPW resonator. Two-qubit gates could also be realized by transferring one state to the SC qubit and another to the resonator first, and then operating on the state via the interaction between the SC qubit and the CPW resonator.

2. Spin hybrid quantum circuits

Facing the challenge of improving cooling and trapping techniques required for atomic HQC, the focus recently shifted to ensembles of spins, as shown in Fig. 12, which can also serve as quantum memories with long coherence times and are much easier to integrate in a solid-state device than atoms, because spins can be doped in the device and do not require any complicated trapping techniques or large electromagnetic fields to bring them in resonance with the CPW resonator (Imamoğlu, 2009; Wesenberg *et al.*, 2009; Yang, Hu *et al.*, 2011; Yang, Yin *et al.*, 2011; Ping, Gauger, and Benjamin, 2012). With SC qubits, this spin HQC can be used to implement quantum gate operations as mentioned in atomic HQCs and simultaneously be more conveniently integrated into a small chip in experiment.

Unlike most atomic ensembles, spin ensembles couple to the CPW resonator via their magnetic dipole moment instead of the electric dipole moment. They should therefore be placed at the antinode of the magnetic field in the resonator in order to achieve maximum coupling, as shown in Fig. 12. As an essential advantage of this design, this hybrid system is insensitive to charge noise, and thus long coherence times could be achieved. The charge qubit (or the transmon) is still placed at the antinode of the electric field as in atomic HQCs.

Hybrid two-level system.—Imamoğlu (2009) proposed a method to construct an effective two-level system from a spin ensemble coupled resonantly to a transmon qubit through a CPW resonator. In this proposal, the spins of the electrons in the substrate or cold ground-state atoms trapped above the resonator are used as the ensemble of spins to be placed at an antinode of the resonator's magnetic field, as shown in Fig. 12. The resonator is strongly coupled to the transmon qubit and thereby behaves as a nonlinear cavity. For strong coupling between the spin ensemble and the resonator, a hybrid two-level system is obtained by choosing appropriate parameters of the coupling strength and the detuning of the spin ensemble.

Holographic quantum register.—Wesenberg et al. (2009) proposed using the electron spin of nitrogen atoms in fuller-



FIG. 12 (color online). Schematic diagrams of three types of hybrid systems combining ensembles of spins and superconducting resonators. (a) The ensemble of spin-carrying atoms is trapped using electromagnetic fields. (b) The ensemble of spins is doped on the surface of the substrate of the superconducting resonator. (c) The ensemble of spins is fixed in a sample of diamond or ruby that is placed on top of the superconducting wire of the resonator. As in Fig. 10, superconducting qubits are also coupled to the coplanar waveguide resonator, so the resonator can be used as a data bus to indirectly couple the spins and SC qubits.

ene cages (N@C₆₀), with a suitable frequency in the microwave range, as the memory medium in the CPW resonator to construct the hybrid system with a transmon qubit. A large number of N@C₆₀ are doped into or deposited on the surface of the substrate and a transmon qubit is integrated at an antinode of the electric field, as shown in Fig. 12(b).

On the side of the memory, by using the collective excitation of the spin ensemble, this system can also have a large coupling strength with the resonator, whose dynamics is described by a Hamiltonian of the form given in Eq. (12). Furthermore, one could employ a magnetic field gradient $(z\hat{z} - y\hat{y})\Delta B/L$ to the substrate for a duration τ , where \hat{z} is along the CPW resonator and \hat{y} is perpendicular to the plane of the resonator. These conditions provide a spatially varying Zeeman energy shift e^{ikz} , which results in a spatially varying phase shift operation. This operation moves the stored quantum information between the different collective-excitation modes in the spin ensemble. These modes are defined by the excited states

$$|e(k)\rangle \equiv \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} \sum_{i} \frac{g_{i}}{\bar{g}} e^{ikz_{i}} |g_{1} \cdots e_{i} \cdots g_{N}\rangle, \qquad (20)$$

where g_i is the coupling strength of the spin at position \mathbf{r}_i , and $\bar{g} \equiv \sqrt{\sum_i |g(\mathbf{r}_i)|^2/N}$ denotes an averaged coupling strength; k is the wave number and serves as an index for the different modes. A number of collective-excitation modes of the same spin ensemble can therefore be used as many channels to store quantum information by appropriately choosing the magnetic field gradient pulses. The storage and retrieval of new data does not disturb previously stored data in different spin modes, because only the k = 0 spin mode interacts with the field in the resonator.

In addition, this proposal also could implement single- and two-qubit gate operations with the transmon qubit (Tordrup and Mølmer, 2008; Tordrup, Negretti, and Mølmer, 2008). By transferring quantum information from the target qubit formed in a spin ensemble to the SC qubit via the CPW resonator, the single-qubit operation could be implemented on the SC qubit. Moreover, one can implement two-qubit gates by swapping quantum information from two modes in the spin ensemble to the SC qubit and the resonator and then implementing a two-qubit gate operation between the SC qubit and the resonator.

Other spin hybrid quantum circuits.—A recent proposal (Ping, Gauger, and Benjamin, 2012) demonstrated that a hybrid circuit, whose main component is a spin ensemble coupled to a CPW resonator, can in principle be used for performing measurement-based quantum computing. A SC qubit and a second resonator are used in the proposal, but only for the purpose of implementing the measurements in the protocol.

In two other proposals, HQCs that integrate ensembles of NV centers, CPW resonators and SC qubits were investigated. In the proposal of Yang, Yin *et al.* (2011), a phase qubit is employed as a quantum processor, while spin ensembles act as quantum memories. Various quantum operations such as the preparation of multiqubit *W* states in the collection of the spin ensembles can be performed using the SC qubit. Yang, Hu *et al.* (2011) proposed using a phase qubit, which is capacitively coupled to two CPW resonators, to entangle two spin ensembles placed in these two resonators. In this proposal, the resonators act as data buses and the phase qubit plays the role of a tunable coupler.

V. EXPERIMENTAL REALIZATION OF HYBRID SYSTEMS WITH SPINS AND SUPERCONDUCTING CIRCUITS

Besides theoretical proposals on HQCs, significant progress has been made on the experimental realization of HQCs involving spin ensembles and SC qubits. A strong coupling between spin ensembles and SC resonators was achieved first. Afterward, a direct-coupling hybrid circuit (NV centers and a flux qubit) as well as an indirect-coupling hybrid circuit (NV centers and a transmon qubit in a SC resonator) was also experimentally realized.

A. Direct-coupling hybrid circuit with nitrogen-vacancy centers and a flux qubit

The theoretical proposal studied by Marcos et al. (2010) (see Sec. IV.C) was recently realized experimentally (Zhu et al., 2011). In this experiment, a sample of diamond containing $\sim 3 \times 10^7$ NV centers was glued on top of the SC circuit [see Fig. 13(a)], which consisted of a flux qubit [see Fig. 13(b)] and a readout dc SQUID [the largest loop in Fig. 13(a)] inductively coupled to the qubit. For better tunability, they used a low-inductance dc SQUID loop to replace the smallest of the three Josephson junctions in the flux qubit. Thus, by controlling the magnetic fluxes threading the main loop of the flux qubit [the left, big loop in Fig. 13(b)] and the small loop of the dc SQUID [the right, small loop in Fig. 13(b)], the energy splitting of the flux qubit can be adjusted. Note that this experiment differed from the proposal of Marcos *et al.* (2010) in that the states $|m_s = \pm 1\rangle$ of the NV centers were not split by the weak external field, but rather hybridized by the strain-induced field. As a result, a superposition of these two states is involved in the coupling to the flux qubit.

From the spectroscopic measurements of the flux qubit coupled to the spin ensemble, a vacuum Rabi splitting was observed and the coupling strength between the two systems reached 70 MHz. Thus, this direct-coupling HQC could be used to transfer quantum information between the two components. By tuning the flux qubit into resonance with the spin ensemble, single-energy-quantum exchange between the two systems was observed with the decay time ~ 20 ns.

The most likely sources of decoherence are the large electron-spin baths of P1 centers (a nitrogen atom substitut-

Gap-tunable

flux qubit

Readout

d.c. SQUID

NV centers

(a)

(b)



ing a carbon atom), which are generated when the sample is prepared. Because the two types of electron spins naturally couple to each other in the experiment (Zhu *et al.*, 2011), applying an external magnetic field to change the energy gap of NV centers or using a better sample could effectively improve the decay time of the NV center ensemble. Another source of decoherence is the strong hyperfine interaction between the NV center spins and ¹³C nuclear spins, which is approximately 100 MHz. This source of decay might be reduced by polarizing the nuclear spins. Therefore, in principle, the decoherence can be reduced and better directcoupling HQCs can be experimentally realized.

B. Spins coupled to superconducting resonators (without qubits)

In order to achieve an indirectly coupled HQC, one has to have a strong coupling between the SC resonator and both the SC qubit and the spin ensemble. Several experiments demonstrated the possibility to strongly, even ultrastrongly, couple SC qubits with resonators (Wallraff *et al.*, 2004; Devoret, Girvin, and Schoelkopf, 2007; Sillanpää, Park, and Simmonds, 2007; Hofheinz *et al.*, 2008, 2009; Niemczyk *et al.*, 2010). However, similar experiments on spin ensembles have not been implemented until recently and these have become the first challenge to experimentally realizing HQCs. Note that semiconductor quantum dots have also been experimentally integrated into superconducting resonators (Frey *et al.*, 2012); however, their coherence times are much shorter than impurity spins.

Recently, four independent groups experimentally achieved strong coupling between an ensemble of impurity spins and a CPW resonator (Kubo et al., 2010; Schuster et al., 2010; Amsüss et al., 2011; Bushev et al., 2011; Kubo et al., 2012; Sandner et al., 2012). They placed a solid-state ensemble of spins on the SC wire at an antinode of the standing wave of the current on the SC wire, where the resonator's magnetic field has a maximum, as shown in Fig. 12(c). NV centers in diamond were used by Kubo et al. (2010, 2012), Amsüss et al. (2011), and Sandner et al. (2012), Cr^{3+} spins in ruby and P1 centers in diamond were utilized by Schuster *et al.* (2010), and Er^{3+} ions in a Y_2SiO_5 crystal were employed by Bushev *et al.* (2011). The frequencies of these impurity spins are all compatible with those of SC resonators. In order to achieve strong coupling between the spins and the resonator, an ensemble of 10^{12} electron spins was used to enhance the coupling strength by about 6 orders of magnitude. Thus, the coupling strength between the ensemble and the resonator reached 10-65 MHz. The vacuum Rabi splitting, photon exchange frequency, and even the storage and retrieval of a microwave field were observed in these experiments, providing evidence that the exchange of microwave photons between the ensemble of spins and the CPW resonator can indeed take place.

In a matter-cavity hybrid system, the loss from the matter and the cavity is commonly described by a measure called the cooperativity, which is defined as $C = g^2/\kappa\gamma$, where g is the qubit-resonator coupling strength, while κ and γ are the decay rates of the cavity and the spins (or atoms, etc.). In Kubo *et al.* (2010), Schuster *et al.* (2010), and Bushev *et al.* (2011), the cooperativities were 7, 27, and 11.5, respectively. This means that the coupling strength between the spins and the CPW resonator is in the strong-coupling regime, and photons can be coherently transferred into the spin ensemble. Recently, Huebl *et al.* (2012) reported a spin-cavity hybrid system with a higher cooperativity (~ 1350). In this experiment, an ensemble of ~ 4.5×10^{16} spins in gallium-doped yttrium iron garnet was strongly coupled to the cavity mode of the CPW resonator. The coupling strength was ~450 MHz, which is about 13% of the frequency of the resonator.

In order to achieve longer coherence times in spin ensembles, Wu *et al.* (2010) and Amsüss *et al.* (2011) attempted the possibility of transferring energy from the electron spins to the nuclear spins by using the hyperfine interaction between them (Childress *et al.*, 2006; Dutt *et al.*, 2007; Jiang *et al.*, 2008; van der Sar *et al.*, 2012). In principle, this would improve the coherence times from several hundred microseconds in the electron spins to seconds in the nuclear spins. In addition, Wu *et al.* (2010) demonstrated that a spin ensemble can simultaneously store a number of different microwave modes by using magnetic field gradients.

C. Indirect-coupling hybrid circuits with nitrogen-vacancy centers and a transmon qubit

Almost simultaneously with the experiment of Zhu *et al.* (2011), another experiment achieved coupling between an ensemble of NV centers and a transmon qubit using a SC resonator as an intermediary (Kubo *et al.*, 2011). The experiment is described in Fig. 14. In this setup, a diamond crystal consisting of $\sim 10^{11}$ NV centers was placed at the center of the resonator where the magnetic field has a maximum, and a transmon-type qubit was placed on one side of the resonator, where the electric field has a maximum. The coupling strength between the spin ensemble (the transmon) and the resonator was ~ 3 MHz (7.2 MHz).

In order to couple these two systems with different frequencies, a tunable CPW resonator was used. In this resonator, a SQUID was embedded in order to make the frequency of the resonator tunable (through its dependence on the applied magnetic flux threading the SQUID loop). Thus, storage, readout, and transfer of quantum information can be achieved by tuning the frequency of the resonator into resonance with the SC qubit and the spin ensemble. In the experiment, these processes were experimentally realized as follows [see Fig. 14(b)]: First, after preparing a quantum state in the SC qubit, the frequency of the resonator was adiabatically swept across the frequency of the qubit, transferring the qubit state to the corresponding photonic state. This process is more immune to flux noise in the SQUID than putting the two systems in resonance for a carefully set duration (Wei *et al.*, 2008). The frequency of the resonator was then brought into resonance with the spin ensemble for some duration. The quantum state then oscillates between the resonator and the spin ensemble. The frequency of the resonator was then tuned away from that of the spin ensemble and adiabatically swept across the frequency of the qubit, transferring the photonics state of the resonator to the SC qubit. Finally, the state of the SC qubit was measured. In principle, a storage and retrieval process could be implemented by adjusting the interaction time between the resonator and the spin ensemble in such a way to exactly swap the quantum state between the two systems, as shown by the dashed line in Fig. 14. For technical



FIG. 14 (color online). (a) Sketch of the experimental device in Kubo *et al.* (2011). (b) Schematic diagram of the preparation, storage, retrieval, and readout processes. In (b), the letters AT denote adiabatic transfers of the quantum state between the superconducting qubit and the coplanar waveguide resonator. The letters W (write) and R (read) refer, respectively, to the transfer of the quantum state to and from the spin ensemble (i.e., the memory). Note that the write-store-read sequence was not implemented in the experiment. In both panels, the letters Q, NV, and CPW refer, respectively, to the transmon qubit, the NV centers in diamond, and the coplanar waveguide resonator.

reasons, however, this experiment was not performed (Kubo, 2012).

However, in the presence of interference effects caused by the hyperfine structure of NV centers and the inhomogeneous broadening at resonance, the fidelity, which describes the correspondence of the readout signal with the original signal, was very low (about 10%) and the coherence times were not very long (about several hundred nanoseconds). Higher-purity diamond could greatly improve the performance of NV centers (long coherence). However, one has to keep in mind that a high concentration of spins is desirable for the purpose of achieving strong coupling. Thus, one of the challenges at the moment is to find the best compromise between high concentration (strong coupling) and diluted impurities (long coherence). There are also efforts aimed at finding methods for enhancing the coherence of these systems, such as dynamical decoupling (de Lange *et al.*, 2010; Huang *et al.*, 2011; Naydenov *et al.*, 2011).

Table III lists some parameters, including coupling strengths between different systems and CPW resonators and related cooperativities. These parameters are essential for achieving an effective exchange of quantum information between the quantum bus (the resonator) and both the memory (the atoms or spins) and the processor (the SC qubits). All these results of combining atomic ensembles (including spins) and CPW resonators to build hybrid circuits point toward more progress in the future.

TABLE III. Coupling strengths between resonators and other systems in different proposals and experiments.

Reference	Atoms or spins	Coupling mechanism	Number of atoms or spins	Coupling to atoms or spins	Coupling to SC qubit	Cooperativity ^a
Theoretical proposals Rabl <i>et al.</i> (2006) Tordrup, Negretti, and Mølmer (2008) Verdú <i>et al.</i> (2009) Petrosyan <i>et al.</i> (2009) Imamoğlu (2009)	Molecules Atoms or molecules Atoms (⁸⁷ Rb) Rydberg atoms (⁸⁷ Rb) Spins	Electric Electric Magnetic Electric Magnetic	$10^{4}-10^{6} \\ 10^{5}-10^{6} \\ \sim 10^{6} \\ \sim 10^{6} \\ \sim 10^{8}$	1–10 MHz 1–10 MHz 40 kHz 3.85 MHz 10 MHz	 ≈ 50 MHz 200 MHz 50 MHz 50 MHz > 100 MHz 	$>10^{3}$ $>10^{3}$ 1.7 1.5×10^{4} 3.9×10^{3}
Wesenberg <i>et al.</i> (2009)	Spins (N@C ₆₀)	Magnetic	$\sim 10^{11}$	6 MHz	~100 MHz	$>4 \times 10^{2}$
Experiments Kubo et al. (2010) Schuster et al. (2010) Bushev et al. (2011) Amsüss et al. (2011) Kubo et al. (2011)	Spins (NV centers) Spins (Cr ³⁺ or N) Spins (Er ³⁺) Spins (NV centers) Spins (NV centers)	Magnetic Magnetic Magnetic Magnetic Magnetic	$\sim 10^{12}$ $\sim 10^{12}$ $\sim 10^{12}$ $\sim 10^{12}$ $\sim 10^{11}$	11.6 MHz 65 MHz 20 MHz 10 MHz 3–4 MHz	 7 MHz	27 11.5 7 10–20 15–20

^aThe cooperativities listed here are for the coupling between a CPW resonator and either atoms or spins; for the coupling between a CPW resonator and a SC qubit, the cooperativity is usually larger than 10³.

VI. HYBRID QUANTUM CIRCUITS WITH NANOMECHANICAL RESONATORS

There are three main approaches that have been considered for coupling a SC qubit and a NAMR: via a neighboring capacitance [see Fig. 15(a)], by changing an applied magnetic flux [see Fig. 15(b)], or via a Lorentz force induced by a loop current [see Fig. 15(c)].

Recently, many groups have devoted considerable effort to this type of HQC. In such a HQC, the NAMR can couple to a SC circuit and serve as a cavity. The entire configuration thereby provides a solid-state analog of cavity-QED systems, and it can reach the strong-coupling regime (Schwab and Roukes, 2005). Meanwhile, the NAMRs are generally much smaller in size than CPW resonators, and thus they can be more easily integrated in high-density quantum devices. Various designs and applications of quantum (or nonclassical) behavior in this type of HQC have been studied, such as the generation of quantum entanglement (Armour, Blencowe, and Schwab, 2002; Cleland and Geller, 2004), quantum measurement (LaHaye et al., 2009), high precision displacement detection (Etaki et al., 2008), and cooling (Wei et al., 2006; Xue, Wang, Liu, and Nori, 2007; Grajcar, Ashhab et al., 2008; Taylor et al., 2011; Teufel, Donner et al., 2011; Teufel, Li et al., 2011).

A. Coupling mechanisms

1. Capacitive coupling

In this case, the NAMR is capacitively coupled to a charge qubit via a capacitance that depends on the displacement *x* of the harmonic oscillator, as shown in Fig. 15(a). The amplitude of the oscillation of the NAMR is much smaller than the equilibrium distance *d* between the SC qubit and the NAMR. Thus, the capacitance between them approximately becomes $C(x) \approx C_0(1 - x/d)$, where C_0 is the capacitance of the NAMR in equilibrium. This *x*-dependent capacitance leads to a situation where the harmonic-oscillation mode of the NAMR effectively couples to the quantum state of the charge qubit.

2. Magnetic flux coupling

In this case, the NAMR is embedded in the loop of an rf SQUID or a flux qubit and oscillates in the plane of the loop, as shown in Fig. 15(b). The displacement of the NAMR leads to a small change in the loop area and therefore the magnetic flux $\Delta \Phi = \alpha B l x$, where α is a geometric factor and l is the length

of the cantilever. The total magnetic flux threading the rf SQUID or the flux qubit becomes an *x*-dependent magnetic flux $\Phi_e[x] = BA + \alpha Blx = \Phi_{eq} + \Delta \Phi[x]$, where Φ_{eq} is the magnetic flux when the cantilever is at its equilibrium position and $\Delta \Phi[x] = \alpha Blx$ is the flux variation due to the vibration of the cantilever. Because the SQUID and the flux qubit are sensitive to the applied magnetic flux, such an *x*-dependent magnetic flux can induce an effective strong coupling between the quantized harmonic-oscillation mode of the NAMR and the quantum states of the SQUID or the flux qubit.

3. Electromotive coupling

In this case, the NAMR is also embedded in the loop of a flux qubit, but oscillates along the direction perpendicular to the plane of the loop, as shown in Fig. 15(c). When an external magnetic field B_{\parallel} is applied parallel to the plane of the loop, the persistent current can induce a Lorentz force with opposite directions for the clockwise and anticlockwise current states. Meanwhile, the oscillations of the NAMR are modulated by these Lorentz forces. Thus, the quantized harmonic-oscillation mode of the cantilever is coupled to the quantum state of the flux qubit.

4. Coupling dynamics

In general, the dynamics of the three circuits shown above can all be described by the Hamiltonian

$$H = \frac{\varepsilon}{2}\sigma'_{z} + t\sigma'_{x} + \hbar\omega_{\text{NAMR}}b^{\dagger}b + \hbar g_{\text{SC-NAMR}}(b^{\dagger} + b)\sigma'_{z},$$
(21)

where ε and *t* are the energy difference and the tunneling amplitude between two states of the SC qubit, respectively, $\vec{\sigma}'$ denotes the Pauli operator of the SC qubit, ω_{NAMR} is the fundamental vibrational mode frequency of the NAMR, b^{\dagger} and *b* are the resonator creation and annihilation operators, respectively, and $g_{\text{SC-NAMR}}$ describes the coupling strength between the SC circuit and the NAMR. When the SC qubit works at the degeneracy point with $\varepsilon = 0$, by employing the rotating-wave approximation, the Hamiltonian (21) can be reduced to

$$H_{\rm eff} = t\sigma_z + \hbar\omega_{\rm NAMR}b^{\dagger}b + \hbar g_{\rm SC-NAMR}(b^{\dagger}\sigma^- + \sigma^+ b),$$
(22)

where $\vec{\sigma}$ denotes the Pauli operators of the SC qubit in the eigenstate basis.



FIG. 15 (color online). Schematic diagrams of hybrid quantum circuits consisting of nanomechanical resonators (represented by the solid and dashed lines) and (a) a superconducting charge qubit, (b) an rf SQUID, and (c) a three-junction flux qubit.

B. Applications

The physics of the nanomechanical hybrid circuits introduced above can be described by a Jaynes-Cummings model, as in Eq. (22), which is a close analog to cavity QED. Hence, many applications of quantum devices built in other cavity-QED systems can also be implemented in nanomechanical HQCs (Armour, Blencowe, and Schwab, 2002; Cleland and Geller, 2004; Xue, Liu et al., 2007; LaHaye et al., 2009; Liu et al., 2010; Chen et al., 2011; Shevchenko, Ashhab, and Nori, 2012). Futhermore, the NAMR can be small in size, which facilitates the HQCs' scalability. In addition, a CPW resonator can also be coupled to a nanomechanical hybrid circuit to form a new quantum device (Sun et al., 2006; Didier et al., 2011; Pirkkalainen et al., 2012). For instance, Sun et al. (2006) designed a quantum transducer. In this proposal, a charge qubit is designed to capacitively couple with the NAMR and magnetically couple to the CPW resonator simultaneously. Quantum information can therefore be coherently exchanged between the CPW resonator and the NAMR by controlling the charge qubit and implement the quantum analog of the transducer used in classical telephones.

Besides serving as a cavity, another promising application of nanomechanical HQCs is to observe the quantum and classical behaviors of NAMR oscillations. If a NAMR with sufficiently high oscillation frequency (\sim GHz) is cooled to very low temperatures ($\sim mK$) (i.e., the quantum oscillation energy becomes larger than the thermal energy $k_B T$), then the NAMR can approach the quantum limit and exhibit various quantum phenomena (O'Connell et al., 2010; Teufel, Donner et al., 2011; Teufel, Li et al., 2011). Many approaches have been proposed to achieve the cooling of the oscillator with optomechanical systems (Marquardt and Girvin, 2009), where an oscillating micromirror or cantilever is proposed as a harmonic oscillator. Alternative approaches for cooling NAMRs can be found in nanomechanical hybrid circuits (Zhang, Wang, and Sun, 2005; Xue, Wang, Liu, and Nori, 2007; You, Liu, and Nori, 2008; Xia and Evers, 2009; Zhang, Liu, and Nori, 2009; O'Connell et al., 2010; Teufel, Donner et al., 2011; Teufel, Li et al., 2011).

For instance, in a capacitive-coupling nanomechanical hybrid circuit, as shown in Fig. 15(a), the charge qubit can serve as a coolant that absorbs energy from the NAMR (Zhang, Wang, and Sun, 2005). In such a system, the cooling procedure consists of two parts: a relaxation process (off resonant) and a cooling process (resonant). By varying the external magnetic flux threading the qubit loop, one can control the transition between these two processes, which switch the interaction on and off between the qubit and the NAMR, and the relaxation rate of the qubit. In the relaxation

process, the charge qubit is switched far off resonance with the resonator and taken to a fast-decay bias point. The interaction between the two parts can therefore be neglected and the state of the qubit can relax to the ground state. In the cooling process, by adjusting the external flux to switch on the interaction between the charge qubit and the NAMR, the energy can be transferred from the NAMR to the qubit in an appropriate cycle interval. Repeating these two processes, energy is continuously extracted from the NAMR, and thus the NAMR is cooled, possibly close to its ground state where its quantum features become apparent.

Furthermore, besides cooling the NAMR, the whole system (including the solid-state circuit part) can also be cooled down simultaneously (You, Liu, and Nori, 2008), which is useful to enhance the quantum coherence properties in the quantum device. You, Liu, and Nori (2008) proposed such a HQC involving a four-junction flux qubit, where the small Josephson junction is replaced by a tunable SQUID. The cooling process can be described as follows: first, the energy levels of the flux qubit are adjusted as shown in Fig. 16(a), where the qubit is off resonance with the resonator and the transition rates satisfy the relations $\Gamma_{ag} > \Gamma_{ea} \gg \Gamma_{ge}$. The noise from the outside environment can excite the qubit to its first excited state. After optically pumping the qubit from the first to the second excited state, the qubit can later on quickly decay to the ground state, due to the large transition rate Γ_{ag} . This process ensures that the qubit remains close to the ground state (Valenzuela et al., 2006; Grajcar, Van der Ploeg et al., 2008). Then, by adjusting the magnetic field threading the qubit loop, the qubit is switched to resonantly interact with the resonator for a period of time [see Fig. 16(b)]. This process extracts energy from the resonator. Afterward, the qubit is switched back off resonance and cooled down to the ground state again as above [see Fig. 16(c)]. Repeating these processes, both the qubit and the resonator can be simultaneously cooled.

Recent rapid progress made in nanoscience has stimulated the design of different models to use HQCs to achieve the cooling of a quantum device and a coupled nanomechanical resonator. Such cooled HQCs provide a promising platform for exploring various quantum phenomena and for implementing the quantum-to-classical transition in a macroscopic system.

In addition, NAMRs can also act as a bridge linking atoms or spins with SC quits. Recently, two theoretical designs provided two different approaches to implement such a HQC, where the NAMR simultaneously connects the SC circuit with a Rydberg atom (Gao, Liu, and Wang, 2011) or a NV center (Chen, Xu, and Feng, 2010).



FIG. 16 (color online). Cooling process in a hybrid quantum system: (a) Cooling brings the flux qubit (on the left) to the ground state while the qubit is off resonance with the resonator (inside the square box on the right). (b) When the flux qubit on the left is switched to resonantly interact with the resonator, the latter is cooled by exciting the qubit to the state $|e\rangle$. (c) Tuning the qubit on the left off resonance from the resonator, the qubit is cooled down again.

VII. OTHER HYBRID QUANTUM CIRCUITS

A. Hybrid quantum circuits with microscopic defects

Besides the above atomic or spin HQCs, microscopic TLS defects that naturally occur in Josephson junctions can also interact with SC qubits and constitute a new type of hybrid circuits. Spurious TLSs inside the amorphous oxide tunnel barrier of junctions can be atoms or electrons having two possible positions inside potential wells with tunneling between them, as shown in Fig. 17. Generally, TLSs are regarded as a nuisance because they cause decoherence (Ku and Yu, 2005; Martin, Bulaevskii, and Shnirman, 2005). However, it was proposed (Zagoskin et al., 2006), and experimentally demonstrated (Neeley et al., 2008; Sun et al., 2010) that these TLSs, which sometimes have long coherence times, can also be used as quantum memories. This approach provides a new method to utilize TLS defects in solid-state devices.

Zagoskin *et al.* (2006) theoretically analyzed the quantum TLSs in current-biased Josephson junctions (CBJJ) and these were studied as qubits and also as quantum memories. The dynamics of the TLS-CBJJ system can be described by the following effective Hamiltonian:

$$H = \frac{\hbar\omega}{2}\sigma_z + \sum_j \left(\frac{\Delta_j}{2}\tilde{\sigma}_z^j + \lambda_j\sigma_x\tilde{\sigma}_x^j\right),\tag{23}$$

where the Pauli matrices $\vec{\sigma}$ ($\vec{\tilde{\sigma}}$) operate on the two lowest states of the CBJJ (the TLS states), ω is the interlevel spacing of the CBJJ, Δ_j denotes the interlevel spacing of the *j*th TLS, and the coupling strength between the CBJJ and the TLS is described by the coefficient λ_i . In this Hamiltonian, the last term $\lambda_i \sigma_x \tilde{\sigma}_x^j$ leads to energy exchange between the CBJJ and the TLS when they are resonant with each other. This means that the storage and retrieval of quantum information in TLSs can be implemented when the CBJJ is switched to resonance with the TLSs for an appropriate operation time. Other relevant theoretical and experimental proposals of operating TLSs (Tian and Simmonds, 2007; Neeley et al., 2008; Lisenfeld et al., 2010; Sun et al., 2010) have been reported, and these suggest that this type of HQC could have better properties for coherent quantum storage by using TLSs rather than SC qubits.

B. Hybrid quantum circuits with topological qubits

Topological quantum computation is currently being explored by various groups [see Nayak *et al.* (2008) for a review]. A topological quantum system has topologically



FIG. 17 (color online). Schematic diagram of two-level systems inside the oxide tunnel barrier of a Josephson junction.

ordered states of matter that are insensitive to local perturbations. Thus, this quantum system can be protected from decoherence when it serves as a qubit. However, coherently coupling topological qubits with other qubits in a common hybrid system prove challenging because this coupling is very weak (Vishveshwara, 2011).

Recently, Bonderson and Lutchyn (2011) and Jiang, Kane, and Preskill (2011) theoretically studied two different interfaces between topological qubits and other conventional qubits. Jiang, Kane, and Preskill (2011) proposed to couple a topological qubit with a SC flux qubit, and Bonderson and Lutchyn (2011) designed a scheme to allow a topological qubit to interact with a semiconductor double-dot qubit via a SC flux qubit. In both proposals, a pair of exotic quasiparticles (Majorana fermions) was used as the topological qubit and was localized on the segments formed by a topological insulator (Jiang, Kane, and Preskill, 2011), or on a wire whose conduction electrons have strong spin-orbit coupling (Bonderson and Lutchyn, 2011). The Majorana fermion is an exotic particle which is its own antiparticle. This pair of Majorana fermions is in a nonlocal quantum state and possesses non-Abelian quantum statistics, which are crucial for topological quantum computation.

Jiang, Kane, and Preskill (2011) theoretically considered the proximity effect (Tinkham, 1996) to link the macroscopic wave function of the superconductor with the Majorana fermions at the interface between the superconductor and topological insulator via the tunneling of Cooper pairs between these two materials (Fu and Kane, 2008). Consequently, the superconducting phase, which depends on the state of the flux qubit, can coherently control the Majorana fermions in the topological qubit and be designed as a key ingredient of a controlled-phase gate to achieve the exchange of quantum information between the SC qubit and the topological qubit. Bonderson and Lutchyn (2011) theoretically considered the Aharonov-Casher effect to effectively couple the topological qubit to a double quantum dot qubit (Hanson and Awschalom, 2008). The Aharonov-Casher effect is dual to the familiar Aharonov-Bohm effect, and it states that a neutral particle possessing a magnetic moment, such as a vortex in a superconductor, can obtain a quantum phase shift while moving around a line charge. When the Majorana fermion pair and quantum dots are placed on the flux qubit, the Aharonov-Casher effect makes the state of the flux qubit sensitive to the electron parity of the Majorana fermion pair and quantum dots. Thus, the parity measurements with the help of the flux qubit could be used to entangle qubits and coherently transfer quantum information.

Moreover, a method to coherently transfer quantum information and perform other quantum operations on topological qubits and spins in quantum dots was also theoretically proposed recently (Leijnse and Flensberg, 2011, 2012).

C. Hybrid quantum circuits for converting optical photons to microwave photons

Most proposals and experiments introduced above involve microwave photons in the GHz frequency range. However, there are many quantum systems working in the visible or infrared frequency range. Recently, DiVincenzo, Hobbs, and Kumar (2011) proposed a hybrid superconductor-optical quantum repeater which integrates an optical system of a visible or infrared frequency with a SC circuit in the GHz range. In this quantum repeater, the SC and optical subsystems couple to each other via a microwave transmission medium, such as a CPW. The process of exchanging a quantum state between them could be implemented as follows: First in the optical subsystem, a photon is received and transferred via an optical channel. Then it is downconverted to a microwave photon in the microwave transmission medium. Finally the quantum signal is transferred from the microwave photon and stored or operated on the SC qubit. This process can also be applied in the opposite direction.

In such a HQC, the key issue in transferring the quantum signal between optical and SC subsystems is the downconversion process of the optical photon to the microwave photon, and the inverse process (i.e., upconversion) (Strekalov *et al.*, 2009). DiVincenzo, Hobbs, and Kumar (2011) proposed using a nanoscale tunnel junction, which has a nonlinear current-to-voltage characteristic, to link the optical and microwave signals. This nonlinear tunnel junction can convert the optical power to a current source as

$$I(\omega = 0) = \eta E(\omega_{\text{opt}})E^*(\omega_{\text{opt}}), \qquad (24)$$

where $I(\omega = 0)$ is the output dc current, η is the efficiency coefficient, and $E(\omega_{opt})$ is the electric field at the tunnel junction, which has a frequency ω_{opt} . In the downconversion process, there are two optical fields introduced at the junction. One is the signal photon from the optical subsystem with frequency $\omega_{opt} + \Delta \omega$, and the other is the strong laser beam with frequency ω_{opt} . The output current produced by the nonlinear junction is $I(\Delta \omega) = \eta E(\omega_{opt})E^*(\omega_{opt} + \Delta \omega)$, where $\Delta \omega$ can be in the GHz range, matching the working frequency of a SC subsystem. As a result, quantum information carried in the optical photon can be converted to a current signal with GHz frequency and then transferred as a microwave photon in the microwave transmission medium. In the opposite process, the output current produced by the nonlinear junction becomes $I(\omega_{opt} + \Delta \omega) = \eta E(\omega_{opt})E^*(\Delta \omega)$, and the microwave photon can then be upconverted to the optical photon. For other related work, see Ilchenko et al. (2003), Matsko et al. (2007), Tsang (2010, 2011), Tian (2012), and Wang and Clerk (2012).

VIII. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

Hybrid quantum circuits promise to open up new possibilities for quantum technologies where the hybrid circuit combines the best features of its constituents, such as long coherence times, fast operations, and scalability.

We presented an overview of the current status of HQCs, especially devices integrating atomic or spin systems with SC qubits or resonators, where considerable progress has been made recently in both theory and experiment.

Even though the basic ideas for coupling the different systems together (e.g., relying on the natural coupling to electric or magnetic fields) are quite simple, there are a variety of different approaches for putting a hybrid circuit together. For example, one can decide to use direct coupling between atomic and solid-state qubits or use a SC resonator to mediate the coupling by balancing the requirements of setup simplicity and sufficient coupling strength. Moreover, there are many elements that can be used as the atomic or spin part of the hybrid device, and careful consideration of the properties of the different candidates must be considered before deciding which one is best suited for achieving the desired purpose of the device.

Experiments on HQCs are just starting to demonstrate the coherent coupling between different physical systems. However, with rapid progress in fabrication techniques, one can expect better results in the coming few years. In particular, the coupling of NV centers in diamond to SC qubits and resonators promises to be an active area of research for years to come, and one can envision such a HQC to be a central component of quantum technologies ranging from precision-measurement devices to quantum computers.

Hybrid devices involving NAMRs are also starting to enter the quantum regime. With a constantly increasing level of control, a number of experiments have demonstrated quantum effects in such HQCs in the past few years, and these circuits are now becoming increasingly feasible as components in technologies that involve mechanical sensing devices.

The field of hybrid circuits is still evolving, with new ideas emerging steadily. It is quite likely that in a few years the designs will be significantly more sophisticated than the prototypes that have been studied in recent years.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Sahin Ozdemir for a careful reading of the manuscript and useful suggestions. We also thank Iulia Georgescu, Xuedong Hu, Yuimaru Kubo, Sergey Shevchenko, and Anders Sørensen for useful discussions and comments. S. A. and F. N. were supported in part by the ARO, JSPS-RFBR Grant No. 12-02-92100, a Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research (S), MEXT Kakenhi on Quantum Cybernetics, and the JSPS through the FIRST program. Z.-L. X. and J. Q. Y. were supported in part by the National Basic Research Program of China Grant No. 2009CB929302, NSFC Grant No. 91121015, and MOE Grant No. B06011. Z.-L.X. was also partly supported by the RIKEN IPA program.

REFERENCES

- Amsüss, R., *et al.*, 2011, "Cavity QED with magnetically coupled collective spin states," Phys. Rev. Lett. **107**, 060502.
- André, S., D. DeMille, J. M. Doyle, M. D. Lukin, S. E. Maxwell, P. Rabl, R. J. Schoelkopf, and P. Zoller, 2006, "A coherent allelectrical interface between polar molecules and mesoscopic superconducting resonators," Nat. Phys. 2, 636.
- Aoki, T., B. Dayan, E. Wilcut, W.P. Bowen, A.S. Parkins, T.J. Kippenberg, K.J. Vahala, and H.J. Kimble, 2006, "Observation of strong coupling between one atom and a monolithic micro resonator," Nature (London) 443, 671.
- Armani, D. K., T. J. Kippenberg, S. M. Spillane, and K. J. Vahala, 2003, "Ultra-high-*Q* toroid microcavity on a chip," Nature (London) **421**, 925.
- Armour, A.D., M.P. Blencowe, and K.C. Schwab, 2002, "Entanglement and decoherence of a micromechanical resonator via coupling to a Cooper-pair box," Phys. Rev. Lett. 88, 148301.

- Ashhab, S., A. O. Niskanen, K. Harrabi, Y. Nakamura, T. Picot, P. C. de Groot, C. J. P. M. Harmans, J. E. Mooij, and F. Nori, 2008, "Interqubit coupling mediated by a high-excitation-energy quantum object," Phys. Rev. B 77, 014510.
- Ashhab, S., and F. Nori, 2010, "Qubit-oscillator systems in the ultrastrong-coupling regime and their potential for preparing nonclassical states," Phys. Rev. A 81, 042311.
- Balasubramanian, G., et al., 2009, "Ultralong spin coherence time in isotopically engineered diamond," Nat. Mater. 8, 383.
- Bennett, C. H., and D. P. DiVincenzo, 2000, "Quantum information and computation," Nature (London) **404**, 247.
- Bernien, H., L. Childress, L. Robledo, M. Markham, D. Twitchen, and R. Hanson, 2012, "Two-photon quantum interference from separate Nitrogen Vacancy centers in diamond," Phys. Rev. Lett. 108, 043604.
- Blais, A., J. Gambetta, A. Wallraff, D. I. Schuster, S. M. Girvin, M. H. Devoret, and R. J. Schoelkopf, 2007, "Quantuminformation processing with circuit quantum electrodynamics," Phys. Rev. A 75, 032329.
- Blais, A., R.S. Huang, A. Wallraff, S.M. Girvin, and R.J. Schoelkopf, 2004, "Cavity quantum electrodynamics for superconducting electrical circuits: an architecture for quantum computation," Phys. Rev. A 69, 062320.
- Blatt, R., and D. Wineland, 2008, "Entangled states of trapped atomic ions," Nature (London) **453**, 1008.
- Blencowe, M., 2004, "Quantum electromechanical systems," Phys. Rep. **395**, 159.
- Blencowe, M., 2010, "Quantum RAM," Nature (London) 468, 44.
- Bloch, I., 2008, "Quantum coherence and entanglement with ultracold atoms in optical lattices," Nature (London) **453**, 1016.
- Bluhm, H., S. Foletti, I. Neder, M. Rudner, D. Mahalu, V. Umansky, and A. Yacoby, 2011, "Dephasing time of GaAs electron-spin qubits coupled to a nuclear bath exceeding 200 μ s," Nat. Phys. 7, 109.
- Bonderson, P. and R. M. Lutchyn, 2011, "Topological quantum buses: coherent quantum information transfer between topological and conventional qubits," Phys. Rev. Lett. 106, 130505.
- Bradbury, F.R., A.M. Tyryshkin, G. Sabouret, J. Bokor, T. Schenkel, and S.A. Lyon, 2006, "Stark tuning of donor electron spins in silicon," Phys. Rev. Lett. 97, 176404.
- Buck, J. R., and H. J. Kimble, 2003, "Optimal sizes of dielectric microspheres for cavity QED with strong coupling," Phys. Rev. A 67, 033806.
- Buckley, B. B., G. D. Fuchs, L. C. Bassett, and D. D. Awschalom, 2010, "Spin-light coherence for single-spin measurement and control in diamond," Science 330, 1212.
- Buks, E., and M. P. Blencowe, 2006, "Decoherence and recoherence in a vibrating rf SQUID," Phys. Rev. B 74, 174504.
- Buluta, I., S. Ashhab, and F. Nori, 2011, "Natural and artificial atoms for quantum computation," Rep. Prog. Phys. 74, 104401.
- Buluta, I., and F. Nori, 2009, "Quantum simulators," Science 326, 108.
- Burkard, G., and A. Imamoğlu, 2006, "Ultra-long-distance interaction between spin qubits," Phys. Rev. B **74**, 041307(R).
- Burkard, G., R. H. Koch, and D. P. DiVincenzo, 2004, "Multilevel quantum description of decoherence in superconducting circuits," Phys. Rev. B 69, 064503.
- Bushev, P., A. K. Feofanov, H. Rotzinger, I. Protopopov, J. H. Cole, C. M. Wilson, G. Fischer, A. Lukashenko, and A. V. Ustinov, 2011, "Ultralow-power spectroscopy of a rare-earth spin ensemble using a superconducting resonator," Phys. Rev. B 84, 060501.
- Bylander, J., S. Gustavsson, F. Yan, F. Yoshihara, K. Harrabi, G. Fitch, D. G. Cory, Y. Nakamura, J. S. Tsai, and W. D. Oliver, 2011, "Noise spectroscopy through dynamical decoupling with a superconducting flux qubit," Nat. Phys. 7, 565.

- Carter, S. G., T. M. Sweeney, M. Kim, C. S. Kim, D. Solenov, S. E. Economou, T. L. Reinecke, L. Yang, A. S. Bracker, and D. Gammon, 2012, "Quantum control of a spin qubit coupled to a photonic crystal cavity," arXiv:1211.4540.
- Chen, Q., Z. Xu, and M. Feng, 2010, "Entanglement generation of nitrogen-vacancy centers via coupling to nanometer-sized resonators and a superconducting interference device," Phys. Rev. A 82, 014302.
- Chen, Q., W. Yang, M. Feng, and J. Du, 2011, "Entangling separate nitrogen-vacancy centers in a scalable fashion via coupling to microtoroidal resonators," Phys. Rev. A 83, 054305.
- Childress, L., M. V. G. Dutt, J. M. Taylor, A. S. Zibrov, F. Jelezko, J. Wrachtrup, P. R. Hemmer, and M. D. Lukin, 2006, "Coherent Dynamics of Coupled Electron and Nuclear Spin Qubits in Diamond," Science 314, 281.
- Childress, L., A. S. Sørensen, and M. D. Lukin, 2004, "Mesoscopic cavity quantum electrodynamics with quantum dots," Phys. Rev. A 69, 042302.
- Chiorescu, I., P. Bertet, K. Semba, Y. Nakamura, C. J. P. M. Harmans, and J. E. Mooij, 2004, "Coherent dynamics of a flux qubit coupled to a harmonic oscillator," Nature (London) **431**, 159.
- Cirac, J.I., and P. Zoller, 2000, "A scalable quantum computer with ions in an array of microtraps," Nature (London) **404**, 579.
- Clarke, J., and F.K. Wilhelm, 2008, "Superconducting quantum bits," Nature (London) **453**, 1031.
- Cleland, A. N., and M. R. Geller, 2004, "Superconducting qubit storage and entanglement with nanomechanical resonators," Phys. Rev. Lett. **93**, 070501.
- Cleland, A.N., and M.L. Roukes, 1996, "Fabrication of high frequency nanometer scale mechanical resonators from buck Si crystals," Appl. Phys. Lett. **69**, 2653.
- Cottet, A., and T. Kontos, 2010, "Spin quantum bit with ferromagnetic contacts for circuit QED," Phys. Rev. Lett. **105**, 160502.
- Dayan, B., A. S. Parkins, T. Aoki, E. P. Ostby, K. J. Vahala, and H. J. Kimble, 2008, "A photon turnstile dynamically regulated by one atom," Science 319, 1062.
- de Lange, G., Z. H. Wang, D. Ristè, V. V. Dobroviski, and R. Hanson, 2010, "Universal dynamical decoupling of a single solid-state spin from a spin bath," Science **330**, 60.
- Delbecq, M. R., V. Schmitt, F. D. Parmentier, N. Roch, J. J. Viennot, G. Fève, B. Huard, C. Mora, A. Cottet, and T. Kontos, 2011, "Coupling a quantum dot, fermonic leads, and a microwave cavity on a chip," Phys. Rev. Lett. **107**, 256804.
- Deng, Z. J., Q. Xie, C. W. Wu, and W. L. Yang, 2010, "Storage of arbitrary two-charge-qubit states in a single ⁸⁷Rb cold-atom ensemble," Phys. Rev. A 82, 034306.
- Devoret, M. H., S. M. Girvin, and R. J. Schoelkopf, 2007, "Circuit-QED: how strong can the coupling between a Josephson junction atom and a transmission line resonator be?," Ann. Phys. (Berlin) 16, 767.
- Dicke, R. H., 1954, "Coherence in spontaneous radiation process," Phys. Rev. 93, 99.
- Didier, N., S. Pugnetti, Y.M. Blanter, and R. Fazio, 2011, "Detecting phonon blockade with photons," Phys. Rev. B 84, 054503.
- DiVincenzo, D. P., 2000, "The physical implementation of quantum computation," Fortschr. Phys. 48, 771.
- DiVincenzo, D.P., P.C.D. Hobbs, and S. Kumar, 2011, "Hybrid superconductor-optical quantum repeater," US Patent No. 7,889,992.
- Doherty, M. W., F. Dolde, H. Fedder, F. Jelezko, J. Wrachtrup, N. B. Manson, and L. C. L. Hollenberg, 2012, "Theory of the ground state spin of the NV⁻ center in diamond," Phys. Rev. B **85**, 205203.

- Dolde, F., H. Fedder, M. W. Doherty, T. Nöbauer, F. Rempp, G. Balasubramanian, T. Wolf, L. C. L. Hollenberg, F. Jelezko, and J. Wrachtrup, 2011, "Electric-field sensing using single diamond spins," Nat. Phys. 7, 459.
- Dutra, S. M., 2005, *Cavity Quantum Electrodynamics: The Strange Theory of Light in a Box* (Wiley, Hoboken).
- Dutt, M. V. G., L. Childress, L. Jiang, E. Togan, J. Maze, F. Jelezko, A. S. Zibrov, P. R. Hemmer, and M. D. Lukin, 2007, "Quantum register based on individual electronic and nuclear spin qubits in diamond," Science 316, 1312.
- Duty, T., 2010, "Towards superconductor-spin ensemble hybrid quantum systems," Physics **3**, 80.
- Etaki, S., M. Poot, I. Mahboob, K. Onomitsu, H. Yamaguchi, and H. S. J. Van der Zant, 2008, "Motion detection of a micromechanical resonator embedded in a d.c. SQUID," Nat. Phys. 4, 785.
- Faraon, A., I. Fushman, D. Englund, N. Stoltz, P. Petroff, and J. Vučković, 2008, "Coherent generation of non-classical light on a chip via photon-induced tunnelling and blockade," Nat. Phys. 4, 859.
- Forn-Díaz, P., J. Lisenfeld, D. Marcos, J. J. García-Ripoll, E. Solano, C. J. P. M. Harmans, and J. E. Mooij, 2010, "Observation of the Bloch-Siegert shift in a qubit-oscillator system in the ultrastrong coupling regime," Phys. Rev. Lett. 105, 237001.
- Frey, T., P.J. Leek, M. Beck, A. Blais, T. Ihn, K. Ensslin, and A. Wallraff, 2012, "Dipole coupling of a double quantum dot to a microwave resonator," Phys. Rev. Lett. 108, 046807.
- Fröhlich, H., 1950, "Theory of the superconducting state. I. The ground state at the absolute zero of temperature," Phys. Rev. 79, 845.
- Fu, L., and C. L. Kane, 2008, "Superconducting proximity effect and Majorana fermions at the surface of a topological insulator," Phys. Rev. Lett. **100**, 096407.
- Fuchs, G. D., G. Burkard, P. V. Klimov, and D. D. Awschalom, 2011, "A quantum memory intrinsic to single nitrogen-vacancy centres in diamond," Nat. Phys. 7, 789.
- Fuchs, G. D., V. V. Dobrovitski, D. M. Toyli, F. J. Heremans, and D. D. Awschalom, 2009, "Gigahertz dynamics of a strongly driven single quantum spin," Science 326, 1520.
- Fuchs, G. D., V. V. Dobrovitski, D. M. Toyli, F. J. Heremans, C. D. Weis, T. Schenkel, and D. D. Awschalom, 2010, "Excited-state spin coherence of a single nitrogen-vacancy centre in diamond," Nat. Phys. 6, 668.
- Gaebel, T., et al., 2006, "Room-temperature coherent coupling of single spins in diamond," Nat. Phys. 2, 408.
- Gaidarzhy, A., G. Zolfagharkhani, R. L. Badzey, and P. Mohanty, 2005, "Evidence for quantized displacement in macroscopic nanomechanical oscillators," Phys. Rev. Lett. 94, 030402.
- Galiautdinov, A., A. N. Korotkov, and J. M. Martinis, 2012, "Resonator-zero-qubit architecture for superconducting qubits," Phys. Rev. A **85**, 042321.
- Gao, M., Y.X. Liu, and X.B. Wang, 2011, "Coupling Rydberg atoms to superconducting qubits via nanomechanical resonator," Phys. Rev. A 83, 022309.
- Georgescu, I. M., and F. Nori, 2011, "Quantum simulation" (unpublished).
- Georgescu, I. M., and F. Nori, 2012, "Quantum technologies: an old new story," Phys. World **25**, 16.
- Gleyzes, S., S. Kuhr, C. Guerlin, J. Bernu, S. Deléglise, U. B. Hoff, M. Brune, J. M. Raimond, and S. Haroche, 2007, "Quantum jumps of light recording the birth and death of a photon in a cavity," Nature (London) 446, 297.
- Grajcar, M., S. Ashhab, J. R. Johansson, and F. Nori, 2008, "Lower limit on the achievable temperature in resonator-based sideband cooling," Phys. Rev. B 78, 035406.

- Grajcar, M., S. H. W. Van der Ploeg, A. Izmalkov, E. Il'ichev, H. G. Meyer, A. Fedorov, A. Shnirman, and G. Schön, 2008, "Sisiphus cooling and amplification by a superconducting qubit," Nat. Phys. 4, 612.
- Greentree, A. D., J. Salzman, S. Prawer, and L. C. L. Hollenberg, 2006, "Quantum gate for *Q* switching in monolithic photon-bandgap cavities containing two-level atoms," Phys. Rev. A 73, 013818.
- Guillot-Noël, O., Ph. Goldner, Y. Le Du, E. Baldit, P. Monnier, and K. Bencheikh, 2006, "Hyperfine interaction of Er^{3+} ions in Y₂SiO₅: an electron paramagnetic resonance spectroscopy study," Phys. Rev. B **74**, 214409.
- Hanson, R. and D. D. Awschalom, 2008, "Coherence manipulation of single spins in semicondutors," Nature (London) 453, 1043.
- Hanson, R., V. V. Dobrovitski, A. E. Feiguin, O. Gywat, and D. D. Awschalom, 2008, "Coherent dynamics of a single spin interacting with an adjustable spin bath," Science 320, 352.
- Hanson, R., L. P. Kouwenhoven, J. R. Petta, S. Tarucha, and L. M. K. Vandersypen, 2007, "Spins in few-electron quantum dots," Rev. Mod. Phys. 79, 1217.
- Harneit, W., 2002, "Fullerene-based electron-spin quantum computer," Phys. Rev. A 65, 032322.
- Harris, R., 2012 (private communication).
- Helmer, F., M. Mariantoni, A. G. Flowler, J. von Delft, E. Solano, and F. Marquardt, 2009, "Cavity grid for scalable quantum computation with superconducting circuits," Europhys. Lett. 85, 50 007.
- Hennessy, K., A. Badolato, M. Winger, D. Gerace, M. Atatüre, S. Gulde, S. Fält, E. L. Hu, and A. Imamoğlu, 2007, "Quantum nature of a strongly coupled single quantum dot-cavity system," Nature (London) 445, 896.
- Hoffman, J.E., *et al.*, 2011, "Atoms Talking to SQUIDs," Rev. Mex. Fís. **57**, 1.
- Hofheinz, M., et al., 2009, "Synthesizing arbitrary quantum states in a superconducting resonator," Nature (London) **459**, 546.
- Hofheinz, M., E. M. Weig, M. Ansmann, R. C. Bialczak, E. Lucero, M. Neeley, A. D. O'Connell, H. Wang, J. M. Martinis, and A. N. Cleland, 2008, "Generation of Fock states in a superconducting quantum circuit," Nature (London) 454, 310.
- Hood, C.J., H.J. Kimble, and J. Ye, 2001, "Characterization of high-finesse mirrors: loss, phase shifts, and mode structure in an optical cavity," Phys. Rev. A 64, 033804.
- Hood, C. J., T. W. Lynn, A. C. Doherty, A. S. Parkins, and H. J. Kimble, 2000, "The atom-cavity microscope: single atoms bound in orbit by single photons," Science 287, 1447.
- Hu, X., Y.X. Liu, and F. Nori, 2012, "Strong coupling of a spin qubit to a superconducting stripline cavity," Phys. Rev. B 86, 035314.
- Huang, P., X. Kong, N. Zhao, F. Shi, P. Wang, X. Rong, R. B. Liu, and J. Du, 2011, "Observation of an anomalous decoherence effect in a quantum bath at room temperature," Nat. Commun. 2, 570.
- Huebl, H., C. Zollitsch, J. Lotze, F. Hocke, M. Greifenstein, A. Marx, R. Gross, and S. T. B. Goennenwein, 2012, "High cooperatively in coupled microwave resonator ferrimagnetic insulator hybrids," arXiv:1207.6039.
- Hümmer, T., G.M. Reuther, P. Hänggi, and D. Zueco, 2012, "Nonequilibrium phases in hybrid arrays with flux qubits and nitrogen-vacancy centers," Phys. Rev. A 85, 052320.
- Ilchenko, V. S., A. Savchenkov, A. B. Matsko, and L. Maleki, 2003, "Whispering-gallery-mode electro-optic modulator and photonics microwave receiver," J. Opt. Soc. Am. B 20, 333.
- Imamoğlu, A., 2009, "Cavity QED based on collective magnetic dipole coupling: spin ensembles as hybrid two-level systems," Phys. Rev. Lett. 102, 083602.

- Imamoğlu, A., D. D. Awschalom, G. Burkard, D. P. DiVincenzo, D. Loss, M. Sherwin, and A. Small, 1999, "Quantum information processing using quantum dot spins and cavity QED," Phys. Rev. Lett. 83, 4204.
- Jaksch, D. and P. Zoller, 2005, "The cold atom Hubbard toolbox," Ann. Phys. (Amsterdam) **315**, 52.
- Jelezko, F., T. Gaebel, I. Popa, A. Gruber, and J. Wrachtrup, 2004, "Observation of coherent oscillations in a single electron spin," Phys. Rev. Lett. 92, 076401.
- Jiang, L., M. V. G. Dutt, E. Togan, L. Childress, P. Cappellaro, J. M. Taylor, and M. D. Lukin, 2008, "Coherence of an optically illuminated single nuclear spin qubit," Phys. Rev. Lett. 100, 073001.
- Jiang, L., C. L. Kane, and J. Preskill, 2011, "Interface between topological and superconducting qubits," Phys. Rev. Lett. **106**, 130504.
- Jin, P. Q., M. Marthaler, A. Shnirman, and G. Schön, 2012, "Strong coupling of spin qubits to a transmission line resonator," Phys. Rev. Lett. 108, 190506.
- Johansson, J., S. Saito, T. Meno, H. Nakano, M. Ueda, K. Semba, and H. Takayanagi, 2006, "Vacuum Rabi oscillations in a macroscopic superconducting qubit LC oscillator system," Phys. Rev. Lett. 96, 127006.
- Kane, B.E., 1998, "A silicon-based nuclear spin quantum computer," Nature (London) 393, 133.
- Kimble, H. J., 2008, "The quantum internet," Nature (London) **453**, 1023.
- Knobel, R. G., and A. N. Cleland, 2003, "Nanometre-scale displacement sensing using a single electron transistor," Nature (London) 424, 291.
- Koch, J., T.M. Yu, J. Gambetta, A.A. Houck, D.I. Schuster, J. Majer, A. Blais, M.H. Devoret, S.M. Girvin, and R.J. Schoelkopf, 2007, "Charge-insensitive qubit design derived from the Cooper pair box," Phys. Rev. A 76, 042319.
- Ku, L. C., and C. C. Yu, 2005, "Decoherence of a Josephson qubit due to coupling to two-level systems," Phys. Rev. B 72, 024526. Kubo, Y., 2012 (private communication).
- Kubo, Y., I. Diniz, A. Dewes, V. Jacques, A. Dréau, J. F. Roch, A. Auffeves, D. Vion, D. Esteve, and P. Bertet, 2012, "Storage and retrieval of a microwave field in a spin ensemble," Phys. Rev. A 85, 012333.
- Kubo, Y., *et al.*, 2011, "Hybrid quantum circuit with a superconducting qubit coupled to a spin ensemble," Phys. Rev. Lett. **107**, 220501.
- Kubo, Y., *et al.*, 2010, "Strong coupling of a spin ensemble to a superconducting resonator," Phys. Rev. Lett. **105**, 140502.
- LaHaye, M. D., O. Buu, B. Camarota, and K. C. Schwab, 2004, "Approaching the quantum limit of a nanomechanical resonator," Science **304**, 74.
- LaHaye, M. D., J. Suh, P. M. Echternach, K. C. Schwab, and M. L. Roukes, 2009, "Nanomechanical measurements of a superconducting qubit," Nature (London) 459, 960.
- Leijnse, M., and K. Flensberg, 2011, "Quantum information transfer between topological and spin qubit systems," Phys. Rev. Lett. 107, 210502.
- Leijnse, M., and K. Flensberg, 2012, "Hybrid topological-spin qubit systems for two-qubit-spin gates," Phys. Rev. B 86, 104511.
- Lev, B., K. Srinivasan, P. Barclay, O. Painter, and H. Mabuchi, 2004, "Feasibility of detecting single atoms using photonics band gap cavities," Nanotechnology 15, S556.
- Lewenstein, M., A. Sanpera, V. Ahufinger, B. Damski, A. Sen, and U. Sen, 2007, "Ultracold atomic gases in optical lattices: mimicking condensed matter physics and beyond," Adv. Phys. 56, 243.

- Liao, J. Q., Z. R. Gong, L. Zhou, Y. X. Liu, C. P. Sun, and F. Nori, 2010, "Controlling the transport of single photons by tuning the frequency of either one or two cavities in an array of couple cavities," Phys. Rev. A 81, 042304.
- Lisenfeld, J., C. Müller, J. H. Cole, P. Bushev, A. Lukashenko, A. Shnirman, and A. V. Ustinov, 2010, "Measuring the temperature dependence of individual two-level systems by direct coherent control," Phys. Rev. Lett. 105, 230504.
- Liu, Y. X., A. Miranowicz, Y. B. Gao, J. Bajer, C. P. Sun, and F. Nori, 2010, "Qubit-induced phonon blockade as a signature of quantum behavior in nano mechanical resonators," Phys. Rev. A 82, 032101.
- Loss, D., and D. P. DiVincenzo, 1998, "Quantum computation with quantum dots," Phys. Rev. A 57, 120.
- Lukin, M. D., 2003, "Trapping and manipulating photon states in atomic ensembles," Rev. Mod. Phys. 75, 457.
- Makhlin, Y., G. Schön, and A. Shnirman, 2001, "Quantum-state engineering with Josephson-junction devices," Rev. Mod. Phys. 73, 357.
- Manucharyan, V.E., J. Koch, L.I. Glazman, and M.H. Devoret, 2009, "Fluxonium: single Cooper-pair circuit free of charge offsets," Science 326, 113.
- Marcos, D., M. Wubs, J. M. Taylor, R. Aguado, M. D. Lukin, and A. S. Sørensen, 2010, "Coupling Nitrogen-Vacancy centers in Diamond to superconducting flux qubits," Phys. Rev. Lett. 105, 210501.
- Marquardt, F., and S. M. Girvin, 2009, "Optomechanics," Physics 2, 40.
- Martin, I., L. Bulaevskii, and A. Shnirman, 2005, "Tunneling spectroscopy of two-level systems inside a Josephson junction," Phys. Rev. Lett. 95, 127002.
- Martinis, J. M., S. Nam, J. Aumentado, and C. Urbina, 2002, "Rabi oscillations in a large Josephson-junction qubit," Phys. Rev. Lett. 89, 117901.
- Matsko, A. B., A. Savchenkov, V. S. Ilchenko, D. Seidel, and L. Maleki, 2007, "On fundamental quantum noises of whispering gallery mode electro-optic modulators," Opt. Express 15, 17401.
- Maurer, P.C., *et al.*, 2012, "Room-temperature quantum bit memory exceeding one second," Science **336**, 1283.
- Maze, J.R., *et al.*, 2008, "Nanoscale magnetic sensing with an individual electronic spin in diamond," Nature (London) **455**, 644.
- Micheli, A., G.K. Brennen, and P. Zoller, 2006, "A toolbox for lattice-spin models with polar molecules," Nat. Phys. 2, 341.
- Mooij, J. E., T. P. Orlando, L. Levitov, L. Tian, C. H. van der Wal, and S. Lloyd, 1999, "Josephson persistent-current qubit," Science 285, 1036.
- Morello, A, *et al.*, 2010, "Single-shot readout of an electron spin in silicon," Nature (London) **467**, 687.
- Morton, J. J. L., A. M. Tyryshkin, A. Ardavan, K. Porfyrakis, S. A. Lyon, and G. A. D. Briggs, 2007, "Environmental effects on electron spin relaxation in N@C₆₀," Phys. Rev. B **76**, 085418.
- Morton, J. J. L., A. M. Tyryshkin, R. M. Brown, S. Shankar, B. W. Lovett, A. Ardavan, T. Schenkel, E. E. Haller, J. W. Ager, and S. A. Lyon, 2008, "Solid-state quantum memory using the ³¹P nuclear spin," Nature (London) **455**, 1085.
- Nakajima, S., 1955, "Perturbation theory in statistical mechanics," Adv. Phys. 4, 363.
- Nakamura, Y., Yu. A. Pashkin, and J. S. Tsai, 1999, "Coherence control of macroscopic quantum states," Nature (London) 398, 786.
- Nation, P. D., J. R. Johansson, M. P. Blencowe, and F. Nori, 2012, "Simulation uncertainty: amplifying the quantum vacuum with superconducting circuits," Rev. Mod. Phys. **84**, 1.

- Nayak, C., S. H. Simon, A. Stern, M. Freedman, and S. Das Sarma, 2008, "Non-Abelian anyons and topological quantum computation," Rev. Mod. Phys. 80, 1083.
- Naydenov, B., F. Dolde, L. T. Hall, C. Shin, H. Fedder, L. C. L. Holleberg, F. Jelezko, and J. Wrachtrup, 2011, "Dynamical decoupling of a single-electron spin at room temperature," *Phys. Rev. B* 83, 081201.
- Neeley, M., M. Ansmann, R. C. Bialczak, M. Hofheinz, N. Katz, E. Lucero, A. D. O'Connell, H. Wang, A. N. Cleland, and J. M. Martinis, 2008, "Process tomography of quantum memory in a Josephson-phase qubit coupled to a two-level state," Nat. Phys. 4, 523.
- Neumann, P., et al., 2010, "Quantum register based on coupled electron spins in a room-temperature solid," Nat. Phys. 6, 249.
- Neumann, P., N. Mizuochi, F. Rempp, P. Hemmer, H. Watanabe, S. Yamasaki, V. Jacques, T. Gaebel, F. Jelezko, and J. Wrachtrup, 2008, "Multipartite entanglement among single spins in diamond," Science 320, 1326.
- Nielsen, M. A., and I. L. Chuang, 2000, *Quantum Computation and Quantum Information* (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, England).
- Niemczyk, T., et al., 2010, "Circuit quantum electrodynamics in the ultrastrong-coupling regime," Nat. Phys. 6, 772.
- Nomura, M., N. Kumagai, S. Iwamoto, Y. Ota, and Y. Arakawa, 2010, "Laser oscillation in a strongly coupled single-quantum-dot-nanocavity system," Nat. Phys. 6, 279.
- Nowack, K. C., F. H. L. Koppens, Yu. V. Nazarov, and L. M. K. Vandersypen, 2007, "Coherence control of a single electron spin with electric fields," Science **318**, 1430.
- O'Connell, A. D., *et al.*, 2010, "Quantum ground state and singlephonon control of a mechanical resonator," Nature (London) 464, 697.
- Özdemir, S. K., J. Zhu, L. He, and L. Yang, 2011, "Estimation of Purcell factor from mode-splitting spectra in an optical microcavity," Phys. Rev. A 83, 033817.
- Paik, H., et al., 2011, "Observation of high coherence in Josephson junction qubits measured in a three-dimensional circuit QED architecture," Phys. Rev. Lett. 107, 240501.
- Palacios-Laloy, A., F. Nguyen, F. Mallet, P. Bertet, D. Vion, and D. Esteve, 2008, "Tunnable resonators for quantum circuits," J. Low Temp. Phys. 151, 1034.
- Park, Y. S., A. K. Cook, and H. Wang, 2006, "Cavity QED with diamond nanocrystals and Sillic Microspheres," Nano Lett. 6, 2075.
- Peropadre, B., P. Forn-Díaz, E. Solano, and J.J. García-Ripoll, 2010, "Switchable ultrastrong coupling in circuit QED," Phys. Rev. Lett. **105**, 023601.
- Peter, E., P. Senellart, D. Martrou, A. Lemaître, J. Hours, J. M. Gérard, and J. Bloch, 2005, "Exciton-photon strong-coupling regime for a single quantum dot embedded in a micro cavity," Phys. Rev. Lett. 95, 067401.
- Petersson, K. D., L. W. McFaul, M. D. Schroer, M. Jung, J. M. Taylor, A. A. Houck, and J. R. Petta, 2012, "Circuit quantum electrodynamics with a spin qubit," Nature (London) **490**, 380.
- Petrosyan, D., G. Bensky, G. Kurizki, I. Mazets, J. Majer, and J. Schmiedmayer, 2009, "Reversible state transfer between superconducting qubits and atomic ensembles," Phys. Rev. A 79, 040304.
- Petta, J. R., A. C. Johnson, J. M. Taylor, E. A. Laird, A. Yacoby, M. D. Lukin, C. M. Marcus, M. P. Hanson, and A. C. Gossard, 2005, "Coherent manipulation of coupled electron spins in semiconductor quantum dots," Science 309, 2180.
- Ping, Y., E. M. Gauger, and S. C. Benjamin, 2012, "Measurementbased quantum computing with a spin ensemble coupled to a stripline cavity," New J. Phys. 14, 013030.

- Pirkkalainen, J. M., S. U. Cho, J. Li, G. S. Paraoanu, P. J. Hakonen, and M. A. Sillanpää, 2012, "Hybrid circuit cavity quantum electrodynamics with a micromechanical resonator," arXiv:1207.1637.
- Pla, J. J., K. Y. Tan, J. P. Dehollain, W. H. Lim, J. J. L. Morton, D. N. Jamieson, A. S. Dzurak, and A. Morello, 2012, "A single-atom electron spin qubit in silicon," Nature (London) 489, 541.
- Press, D., S. Götzinger, S. Reitzenstein, C. Hofmann, A. Löffler, M. Kamp, A. Forchel, and Y. Yamamoto, 2007, "Photon Antibunching from a single quantum-dot-microcavity system in the strong coupling regime," Phys. Rev. Lett. 98, 117402.
- Pugnetti, S., Y. M. Blanter, F. Dolcini, and R. Fazio, 2009, "Dynamics of a SQUID ratchet coupled to a nanomechanical resonator," Phys. Rev. B 79, 174516.
- Rabl, P., D. DeMille, J. M. Doyle, M. D. Lukin, R. J. Schoelkopf, and P. Zoller, 2006, "Hybrid quantum processors: molecular ensembles as quantum memory for solid state circuits," Phys. Rev. Lett. 97, 033003.
- Rabl, P., and P. Zoller, 2007, "Molecular dipolar crystals as high-fidelity quantum memory for hybrid quantum computing," Phys. Rev. A 76, 042308.
- Ranjan, V., G. de Lange, R. Schutjens, T. Debelhoir, J. P. Groen, D. Szombati, D. J. Thoen, T. M. Klapwijk, R. Hanson, and L. DiCarlo, 2013, "Probing dynamics of an electron-spin ensemble via a superconducting resonator," Phys. Rev. Lett. 110, 067004.
- Reithmaier, J. R., G. Sęk, A. Löffler, C. Hofmann, S. Kuhn, S. Reitzenstein, L. V. Keldysh, V. D. Kulakovskii, T. L. Reineck, and A. Forchel, 2004, "Strong coupling in a single quantum dotsemiconductor microcavity system," Nature (London) 432, 197.
- Rigetti, C., *et al.*, 2012, "Superconducting qubit in waveguide cavity with coherence time approaching 0.1 ms," Phys. Rev. B 86, 100506.
- Saffman, M., T.G. Walker, and K. Mølmer, 2010, "Quantum information with Rydberg atoms," Rev. Mod. Phys. **82**, 2313.
- Sandner, K., H. Ritsch, A. Amsüse, Ch. Koller, T. Nöbauer, S. Putz, J. Schmiedmayer, and J. Majer, 2012, "Strong magnetic coupling of an inhomogeneous nitrogen-vacancy ensemble to a cavity," Phys. Rev. A 85, 053806.
- Schleich, W.P., and H. Walther, 2008, Eds., *Elements of Quantum Information* (Wiley-VCH, Weinheim).
- Schoelkopf, R.J., and S.M. Girvin, 2008, "Wiring up quantum systems," Nature (London) **451**, 664.
- Schuster, D. I., *et al.*, 2010, "High-cooperativity coupling of electron-spin ensembles to superconducting cavities," Phys. Rev. Lett. **105**, 140501.
- Schwab, K. C., and M. L. Roukes, 2005, "Putting mechanics into quantum mechanics," Phys. Today No. 7, 58, 36.
- Scully, M.O., and M.S. Zubairy, 1997, *Quantum Optics* (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, England).
- Shevchenko, S. N., S. Ashhab, and F. Nori, 2012, "Inverse Landau-Zener-Stückelberg problem for qubit-resonator systems," Phys. Rev. B 85, 094502.
- Sillanpää, M. A., J. I. Park, and R. W. Simmonds, 2007, "Coherent quantum state storage and transfer between two phase qubits via a resonant cavity," Nature (London) **449**, 438.
- Simmons, S., R. M. Brown, H. Riemann, N. V. Abrosimov, P. Becker, H. J. Pohl, M. L. W. Thewalt, K. M. Itoh, and J. J. L. Morton, 2011, "Entanglement in a solid-state spin ensemble," Nature (London) 470, 69.
- Sipahigil, A., M. L. Goldman, E. Togan, Y. Chu, M. Markham, D. J. Twitchen, A. S. Zibrov, A. Kubanek, and M. D. Lukin, 2012, "Quantum interference of single photons from remote nitrogenvacancy centers in diamond," Phys. Rev. Lett. **108**, 143601.
- Song, B. S., S. Noda, T. Asano, and Y. Akahane, 2005, "Ultra-high-Q photonic double-heterostructure nanocavity," Nat. Mater. 4, 207.

- Sørensen, A. S., C. H. van der Wal, L. I. Childress, and M. D. Lukin, 2004, "Capacitive coupling of atomic systems to mesoscopic conductors," Phys. Rev. Lett. 92, 063601.
- Steffen, M., S. Kumar, D. P. DiVincenzo, J. R. Rozen, G. A. Keefe, M. B. Rothwell, and M. B. Ketchen, 2010, "High-coherence hybrid superconducting qubit," Phys. Rev. Lett. 105, 100502.
- Steger, M., K. Saeedi, M. L. W. Thewalt, J. J. L. Morton, H. Riemann, N. V. Abrosimov, P. Becker, and H. J. Pohl, 2012, "Quantum information storage for over 180 s using donor spins in a ²⁸Si 'semiconductor vacuum'," Science **336**, 1280.
- Stolze, J., and D. Suter, 2008, *Quantum Computing* (Wiley-VCH, Weinheim).
- Strekalov, D. V., H. G. L. Schwefel, A. A. Savchenkov, A. B. Matsko, L. J. Wang, and N. Yu, 2009, "Microwave whisperinggallery resonator for efficient optical up-conversion," Phys. Rev. A 80, 033810.
- Su, C. H., A. D. Greentree, and L. C. L. Hollenberg, 2009, "Highperformance diamond-based single-photon source for quantum communication," Phys. Rev. A 80, 052308.
- Sun, C. P., L. F. Wei, Y. X. Liu, and F. Nori, 2006, "Quantum transducers: integrating transmission lines and nanomechanical resonators via charge qubits," Phys. Rev. A 73, 022318.
- Sun, G., X. Wen, B. Mao, J. Chen, Y. Yu, P. Wu, and S. Han, 2010, "Tunable quantum beam splitters for coherent manipulation of a solid-state tripartite qubit system," Nat. Commun. 1, 51.
- Taylor, J. M., P. Cappellaro, L. Childress, L. Jiang, D. Budker, P. R. Hemmer, A. Yacoby, R. Walsworth, and M. D. Lukin, 2008, "High-sensitivity diamond magnetometer with nanoscale resolution," Nat. Phys. 4, 810.
- Taylor, J. M., A. S. Sørensen, C. M. Marcus, and E. S. Polzik, 2011, "Laser cooling and optical detection of excitations in a LC electrical circuit," Phys. Rev. Lett. 107, 273601.
- Teufel, J. D., T. Donner, D. Li, J. W. Harlow, M. S. Allman, K. Cicak, A.J. Sirois, J. D. Whittaker, K. W. Lehner, and R. W. Simmonds, 2011, "Sideband cooling of micro mechanical motion to the quantum ground state," Nature (London) 475, 359.
- Teufel, J. D., D. Li, M. S. Allman, K. Cicak, A.J. Sirois, J.D. Whittaker, and R.W. Simmonds, 2011, "Circuit cavity electromechanics in the strong-coupling regime," Nature (London) 471, 204.
- Tian, L., P. Rabl, R. Blatt, and P. Zoller, 2004, "Interfacing quantumoptical and solid-state qubits," Phys. Rev. Lett. **92**, 247902.
- Tian, L., and R. W. Simmonds, 2007, "Josephson junction microscope for low-frequency fluctuators," Phys. Rev. Lett. 99, 137002.
- Tian, Lin, 2012, "Adiabatic state conversion and pulse transmission in optomechanical systems," Phys. Rev. Lett. **108**, 153604.
- Tinkham, M., 1996, *Introduction to Superconductivity* (McGraw-Hill, New York), 2nd ed.
- Togan, E., et al., 2010, "Quantum entanglement between an optical photon and a solid-state spin qubit," Nature (London) 466, 730.
- Toida, H., T. Nakajima, and S. Komiyama, 2013, "Vacuum Rabi splitting in a semiconductor circuit QED system," Phys. Rev. Lett. **110**, 066802.
- Tomljenovic-Hanic, S., M. J. Steel, and G. Martijn de Sterke, 2006, "Diamond based photonic crystal microcavities," Opt. Express 14, 3556.
- Tordrup, K., and K. Mølmer, 2008, "Quantum computing with a single molecular ensemble and a Cooper-pair box," Phys. Rev. A 77, 020301.
- Tordrup, K., A. Negretti, and K. Mølmer, 2008, "Holographic quantum computing," Phys. Rev. Lett. **101**, 040501.
- Trif, M., V.N. Golovach, and D. Loss, 2008, "Spin dynamics in InAs nanowire quantum dots coupled to a transmission line," Phys. Rev. B 77, 045434.

- Tsang, M., 2010, "Cavity quantum electro-optics," Phys. Rev. A **81**, 063837.
- Tsang, M., 2011, "Cavity quantum electro-optics. II. Input-output relations between traveling optical and microwave fields," Phys. Rev. A **84**, 043845.
- Twamley, J., and S. D. Barrett, 2010, "Superconducting cavity bus for single nitrogen-vacancy defect centers in diamond," Phys. Rev. B **81**, 241202(R).
- Tyryshkin, A. M., *et al.*, 2012, "Electron spin coherence exceeding seconds in high purity silicon," Nat. Mater. **11**, 143.
- Valenzuela, S. O., W. D. Oliver, D. M. Berns, K. K. Berggren, L. S. Levitov, and T. P. Orlando, 2006, "Microwave-induced cooling of a superconducting qubit," Science 314, 1589.
- van der Sar, T., Z. H. Wang, M. S. Blok, H. Bernien, T. H. Taminiau, D. M. Toyli, D. A. Lidar, D. D. Awschalom, R. Hanson, and V. V. Dobroviski, 2012, "Decoherence-protected quantum gates for a hybrid solid-state spin register," Nature (London) 484, 82.
- van der Wal, C. H., A. C. J. ter Haar, F. K. Wilhelm, R. N. Schouten, C. J. P. M. Harmans, T. P. Orlando, S. Lloyd, and J. E. Mooij, 2000, "Quantum superposition of macroscopic persistent-current states," Science 290, 773.
- Verdú, J., H. Zoubi, Ch. Koller, J. Majer, H. Ritsch, and J. Schmiedmayer, 2009, "Strong magnetic coupling of an ultracold gas to a superconducting waveguide cavity," Phys. Rev. Lett. 103, 043603.
- Vernooy, D. W., A. Furusawa, N. Ph. Georgiades, V. S. Ilchenko, and H. J. Kimble, 1998, "Cavity QED with high-Q whispering gallery modes," Phys. Rev. A 57, R2293.
- Vishveshwara, S., 2011, "A bit of both," Nat. Phys. 7, 450.
- Wallquist, M., K. Hammerer, P. Rabl, M. Lukin, and P. Zoller, 2009, "Hybrid quantum devices and quantum engineering," Phys. Scr. T137, 014001.
- Wallraff, A., D. I. Schuster, A. Blais, L. Frunzio, R. S. Huang, J. Majer, S. Kumar, S. M. Girvin, and R. J. Schoelkopf, 2004, "Strong coupling of a single photon to a superconducting qubit using circuit quantum electrodynamics," Nature (London) 431, 162.
- Wang, Y. D., and A. A. Clerk, 2012, "Using interference for high fidelity quantum state transfer in optomechanics," Phys. Rev. Lett. **108**, 153603.
- Wang, Y. D., K. Semba, and H. Yamaguchi, 2008, "Cooling of a micro-mechanical resonator by the back-action of Lorentz force," New J. Phys. 10, 043015.
- Wei, L. F., J. R. Johansson, L. X. Cen, S. Ashhab, and F. Nori, 2008, "Controllable coherent population transfers in superconducting qubits for quantum computing," Phys. Rev. Lett. 100, 113601.
- Wei, L. F., Y. X. Liu, C. P. Sun, and F. Nori, 2006, "Probing tiny motions of nanomechanical resonators: classical or quantum mechanical?," Phys. Rev. Lett. 97, 237201.
- Weiler, M., L. Dreher, C. Heeg, H. Huebl, R. Gross, M. S. Brandt, and S. T. B. Goennenwein, 2011, "Elastically driven ferromagnetic resonance in nickel thin films," Phys. Rev. Lett. 106, 117601.
- Wendin, G., and V.S. Shumeiko, 2007, "Quantum bits with Josephson junctions," Low Temp. Phys. 33, 724.
- Wesenberg, J. H., A. Ardavan, G. A. D. Briggs, J. J. L. Morton, R. J. Schoelkopf, D. I. Schuster, and K. Mølmer, 2009, "Quantum Computing with an Electron Spin Ensemble," Phys. Rev. Lett. 103, 070502.
- Wieman, C. E., D. E. Pritchard, and D. J. Wineland, 1999, "Atom cooling, trapping, and quantum manipulation," Rev. Mod. Phys. 71, S253.

- Witzany, M., R. Roßbach, W.M. Schulz, T.L. Liu, E. Hu, J. Wiersig, and F. Jahnke, 2011, "Lasing properties of InP/(Ga_{0.51}In_{0.49})P quantum dots in microdisk cavities," Phys. Rev. B 83, 205305.
- Wrachtrup, J., and F. Jelezko, 2006, "Processing quantum information in diamond," J. Phys. Condens. Matter 18, S807.
- Wu, H., R.E. George, J. H. Wesenberg, K. Mølmer, D. I. Schuster, R. J. Schoelkopf, K. M. Itoh, A. Ardavan, J. J. L. Morton, and G. A. D. Briggs, 2010, "Storage of multiple coherent microwave excitations in an electron spin ensemble," Phys. Rev. Lett. 105, 140503.
- Xia, K., and J. Evers, 2009, "Ground state cooling of a nanomechanical resonator in the nonresolved regime via quantum interference," Phys. Rev. Lett. **103**, 227203.
- Xue, F., Y.X. Liu, C.P. Sun, and F. Nori, 2007, "Two-mode squeezed states and entangled states of two mechanical resonators," Phys. Rev. B **76**, 064305.
- Xue, F., Y. D. Wang, Y. X. Liu, and F. Nori, 2007, "Cooling a micro mechanical beam by coupling it to a transmission line," Phys. Rev. B 76, 205302.
- Xue, F., Y.D. Wang, C.P. Sun, H. Okamoto, H. Yamaguchi, and K. Semba, 2007, "Controllable coupling between flux quit and nano mechanical resonator by magnetic field," New J. Phys. 9, 35.
- Yang, C. P, S. I. Chu, and S. Han, 2003, "Possible realization of entanglement, logical gates, and quantum-information transfer with superconducting-quantum-interference-device qubits in cavity QED," Phys. Rev. A 67, 042311.
- Yang, C. P, S. I. Chu, and S. Han, 2004, "Quantum information transfer and entanglement with SQUID qubits in cavity QED: A dark-state scheme with tolerance for nonuniform device parameter," Phys. Rev. Lett. **92**, 117902.
- Yang, W. L., Y. Hu, Z. Q. Yin, Z. J. Deng, and M. Feng, 2011, "Entanglement of nitrogen-vacancy-center ensembles using transmission line resonators and a superconducting phase qubit," Phys. Rev. A 83, 022302.
- Yang, W.L., Z.Q. Yin, Y. Hu, M. Feng, and J.F. Du, 2011, "High-fidelity quantum memory using nitrogen-vacancy center ensemble for hybrid quantum computation," Phys. Rev. A 84, 010301.
- Yoshie, T., A. Scherer, J. Hendrickson, G. Khitrova, H. M. Gibbs, G. Rupper, C. Ell, O. B. Shchekim, and D. G. Deppe, 2004, "Vacuum Rabi splitting with a single quantum dot in a photonic crystal nanocavity," Nature (London) 432, 200.
- You, J. Q., X. Hu, S. Ashhab, and F. Nori, 2007, "Low-decoherence flux qubit," Phys. Rev. B 75, 140515.
- You, J. Q., Y. X. Liu, and F. Nori, 2008, "Simultaneous cooling of an artificial atom and its neighboring quantum system," Phys. Rev. Lett. 100, 047001.

- You, J. Q., and F. Nori, 2003, "Quantum information processing with superconducting qubits in a microwave field," Phys. Rev. B 68, 064509.
- You, J. Q., and F. Nori, 2005, "Superconducting circuits and quantum information," Phys. Today No. 11, 58, 42.
- You, J. Q., and F. Nori, 2011, "Atomic physics and quantum optics using superconducting circuits," Nature (London) 474, 589.
- You, J. Q., J. S. Tsai, and F. Nori, 2003, "Controllable manipulation and entanglement of macroscopic quantum states in coupled charge qubits," Phys. Rev. B 68, 024510.
- You, J. Q., J.S. Tsai, and F. Nori, 2006, "Hybridized solidstate qubit in the charge-flux regime," Phys. Rev. B 73, 014510.
- Yu, Y., S. Han, X. Chu, S.I. Chu, and W. Zhen, 2002, "Coherent temporal oscillations of macroscopic quantum states in a Josephson junction," Science 296, 889.
- Zagoskin, A. M., 2011, *Quantum Engineering* (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, England).
- Zagoskin, A. M., S. Ashhab, J. R. Johansson, and F. Nori, 2006, "Quantum two-level systems in Josephson junctions as naturally formed qubits," Phys. Rev. Lett. **97**, 077001.
- Zagoskin, A. M., J. R. Johansson, S. Ashhab, and F. Nori, 2007, "Quantum information processing using frequency control of impurity spins in diamond," Phys. Rev. B 76, 014122.
- Zhang, H. R., Y. B. Gao, Z. R. Gong, and C. P. Sun, 2009, "Molecular ensemble-based remote quantum storage for charge qubit via a quasidark state," Phys. Rev. A 80, 062308.
- Zhang, J., Y. X. Liu, and F. Nori, 2009, "Cooling and squeezing the fluctuations of a nanomechanical beam by indirect quantum feedback control," Phys. Rev. A **79**, 052102.
- Zhang, P., Y.D. Wang, and C. P. Sun, 2005, "Cooling mechanism for a nanomechanical resonator by periodic coupling to a Cooperpair box," Phys. Rev. Lett. 95, 097204.
- Zhou, L., H. Dong, Y.X. Liu, C.P. Sun, and F. Nori, 2008, "Quantum super cavity with atomic mirrors," Phys. Rev. A 78, 063827.
- Zhou, L., Z.R. Gong, Y.X. Liu, C.P. Sun, and F. Nori, 2008, "Controllable scattering of a single photon inside a one-dimensional resonator waveguide," Phys. Rev. Lett. 101, 100501.
- Zhu, J., S. K. Özdemir, Y. F. Xiao, L. Li, L. He, D. R. Chen, and L. Yang, 2010, "On-chip single nano particle detection and sizing by mode splitting in an ultrahigh-*Q* microresonator," Nat. Photonics 4, 46.
- Zhu, X., *et al.*, 2011, "Coherent coupling of a superconducting flux qubit to an electron spin ensemble in diamond," Nature (London) **478**, 221.
- Zwanenburg, F.A., A.S. Dzurak, A. Morello, M.Y. Simmons, L.C.L. Hollenberg, G. Klimeck, S. Rogge, S.N. Coppersmith, and M.A. Eriksson, 2013, "Silicon quantum electronics," Rev. Mod. Phys. (in press).